




ANNUAL REPORT  2016

THE UAE-BANGLADESH
Investment  Company L i mited

A Joint Venture Financial Ins�tu�on between Abu Dhabi
Fund  for Development and Government of Bangladesh



v

General Information

Vision 6 Sector Wise Investment 8

Mission 6 Company Information 9

Objectives 7 Board of Directors 10

Activities Review

Chairman’s Message 12 Five Years Financial Summary 21

Managing Director’s Review 14 Graphical Presentation 22

Director’s Report 17 Financial Review 23

Sustainability Report

 Value Creation 28 Value Added Statement 33

Corporate Social Responsibilities 29 Contribution to National Economy 34

 CSR Activities 30 Our Investment Impact 35

  Our Green Banking 32

Human Resources

Human Resources Report 48 Organogram 54

Employees Report 51 Our Team 55

CONTENTS

2 Annual Report 2016
UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited



 

CONTENTS

Risk Management

Risk Management Report 58 Investment Continuity Report 65

Governance Practice

Governance Report 68 Audit Committee Report 75

Board Structure 74

Financial Report

Auditor’s Report 80 Cash Flows Statement 84

Balance Sheet 82 Statement of Changes in  Equity 85

Profit & Loss Account 83 Notes to the Fianancial Statements 86

At a Glance 2016

Investment Activities 96 Project Visit 98

3Annual Report 2016
UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited



4 Annual Report 2016
UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited

THE UAE-BANGLADESH INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ERECTORS HOUSE, 5TH FLOOR NORTHERN WING, 18 KEMAL ATATURK AVENUE, BANANI C/A, DHAKA-1213, BANGLADESH

NOTICE OF THE 29TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

April 10, 2017

To: :     The Shareholders 

As desired by the Chairman of the UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited, notice is hereby given that the 
29th Annual General Meeting of the company will be held on May 04, 2017  at 12:00 Noon at “The Westin Dhaka”, 
Main Gulshan Avenue, Plot 01, Road  45, Gulshan 2, Dhaka 1212 to transact the following businesses: 

AGENDA

01 To confirm the minutes of the 28th Annual General Meeting held on 30-03-2016.

02 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Auditor’s Report along with Audited Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

03 To declare cash dividend out of net profit for the year 2016 as recommended by the Board of Directors.

 04 To appoint auditor of the company for the year 2017 and fix their remuneration.

05 Any other business

 By order of the Board

 Signed-
 Md. Faruk Hossain
 Company Secretary



GENERAL INFORMATION

Section - A



To contribute in Socio Economic
Development process of Bangladesh

Invest in financially viable projects with
the private sector for Socio-Economic
development of the country

Our Vision

Our Mission
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* Make investment in financially viable projects in Bangladesh

* Promote products and services as suitable for Bangladesh

* Participate in promotion, formation, management, orperation 

and financing of projects in Bangladesh

* Establish subsidiary companies, participate in the Equity 

Capital in collaboration with the local entrepreneurs of financial 

institutions to promote economic cooperation and advancement 

of financially viable projects

* Promote innovation and creativity

* Implement an efficient ICT system

O B J E C T I V E S
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36%
Others (SME

Finance & Others)

25%
Agriculture

35%
Trade and 
Commerce

1%
Paper, Printing and 
Packaging

1%
Garments

1%
Housing

1 %
Power

Sector Wise Investment
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Registered name : UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited

Registered office : 18 Kemal Ataturk Avenue, Banani, Dhaka-1213, Bangladesh
Phone: +8802-9888203 , Fax:+8802-58810718

Company e-mail : ubico@dhaka.net; ubinco@dhaka.net

Corporate website : www.ubinco.com

Legal Form :  A joint venture private limited company

Company Registration No. : C-16846(472)/87

Bangladesh Bank license No. : FI (non-Banking) Department /Dhaka/8/95
Shareholders : Abu Dhabi Fund for Development of Government of United Arab 

Emirates & Government of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh

Auditors : ACNABIN
Chartered Accountants
BDBL Bhaban (Level- 13 & 14), 12 Kawran Bazar Commercial Area,
Dhaka-1212, Bangladesh

Legal Advisors : Mr. Rafique- ul Huq, Bar. At law
Kamal ul Alam, Bar. At law
Mr. Sayed Rezaur Rahman, Advocate
Mr. Forrukh Rahman, Bar. At law

Membership : Foreign Industries Chamber of Commerce and Industry
International Chamber of Commerce and Industry
The Institute of Bankers, Bangladesh

Company Information
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Director
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Director
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Chairman’s Message

Our actions are guided and governed by sustainability 
principles. In everything we do, we aim not only to create value 
for our clients, shareholders and employees, but also to meet 
environmental and social challenges.

“
”



Bismillahir Rahmanur Rahim

I am delighted to present you with our Annual Report 
2016. By the grace of Almighty Allah, we have achieved 
another year with satisfactory growth. 

The Bangladesh economy remained on its stellar 
growth path in FY 2016 as it grew 7.1%. The decade-
high print was the result of a dynamic external sector 
which benefitted from strong garment exports and 
lower prices for imported oil. Domestic demand also 
contributed to last year’s growth, fueled by increased 
government consumption and public investment. 
On a less positive note, private consumption growth 
slowed, reflecting lower remittances from Bangladeshi 
workers in the Middle East. 

GDP growth will remain robust this fiscal year, 
supported largely by strong private consumption 
and an expected rise in agricultural output. Rising 
protectionism and higher energy prices pose the main 
downside risks to Bangladesh’s export-dependent 
economy.

Against the backdrop of challenging environment, I 
am pleased to announce that performance of UBICO 
remained healthier. While we are committed to 
venture capital financing in the form of equity or quasi 
equity, we have increased our investment activities 
through other financial institutions and renowned 
micro-finance institutions to support inclusive 
financing for marginal segment of population. This 
is an important strategy through which we can 
deploy our resources for a continuous benefit of 
the economy. In line with the policy of Bangladesh 
government, our focus for investment remains for 
development of small and medium entrepreneurs 
which is considerable portion of the total investment 
portfolio. During 2016, we have achieved a better year 
on year net interest revenue growth of 3.12 and return 

on equity by 5.79%. Our company has declared cash 
dividend of 25% for the year 2016.

We believe in sustainable financing. Sustainability 
demands integrity and responsibility in all financing 
activities. Our actions are guided and governed by 
sustainability principles. In everything we do, we aim 
not only to create value for our clients, shareholders 
and employees, but also to meet environmental and 
social challenges. We are committed to observing 
the highest standards of integrity and regularity 
compliance in all aspects of our work. Regular board 
meeting and audit committee meeting, duly attended 
by board members, take place. 

We are also committed to participate in socio-
economic development of Bangladesh through 
development of private sector. We always look for 
innovative ideas to participate and achieve our 
mission. As part of social development, UBICO has 
contributed within its capacity to a number of CSR 
projects in various areas like educational promotion, 
natural calamity, cultural sector and humanitarian 
causes.

In conclusion, let me express my appreciation to our 
fellow board members for their continued support 
and guidance. I would like to express my appreciation 
to our management team for their hard work in 
achieving continuous growth and excellent result. I 
take this opportunity to thank Bangladesh Central 
Bank for their guidance and support extended to us.

May Allah shower his blessing upon us all.

 

Faisal Al Suwaidi 
Chairman
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Managing 
Director’s Review

Our success is founded on ethical leadership, teamwork and 
a commitment in providing value for all stakeholders. UBICO 
has rightly recognized that a happy team is very important 
for success of the company.

“
”
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Assalamu Alaikum,

I would like to express my deep gratitude to the 
almighty Allah for enabling me to pass another 
successful year with the company.

Inflationary trends experienced a consistent decline 
throughout FY2016. The annual average inflation in 
June 2016 stood at 5.9 per cent, which was below 
the target of 6.1 per cent. Lower global commodity 
prices and stable exchange rate of the Taka against 
USD contributed to the falling inflation. Food 
inflation followed a declining trend all through the 
fiscal year and reached 4.9 per cent in June 2016 
from 6.7 per cent in June 2015. In contrast, non-food 
inflation posted a rise to 7.5 per cent in June 2016 
from 6.0 per cent in June 2015. A decomposition 
of non-food inflation trend in FY2016 reveals that, 
average prices were rising consistently for expenses 
related to clothing and footwear, gross rent, fuel and 
lighting as also for transport and communication.

Export earnings registered a strong growth of 9.7 
per cent in FY2016, which was higher than the 
annual target of 7.3 per cent growth set for FY2 016. 
In FY2016, Bangladesh’s overall balance of payments 
position was comfortable, accumulating an overall 
surplus of USD 5,036 million. The surplus increased 
by 15.2 per cent when compared to the previous 
fiscal year, in part due to the tapering trade deficit. 
Trade deficit declined to USD 6,274 million in FY2016 
from USD 6,965 million in FY2015 (by 9.9 per cent) 
driven by strong export growth in the backdrop of 
the subdued growth in import payments (5.4 per 
cent).

During the year 2016, we have strengthened 
our several operational areas. We maintained a 
qualitative loans and advances portfolio and at the 
same time continued to take the prudent approach 
to manage the balance sheet, maintain a strong 
liquidity position and keep a watchful eye on asset 
quality. In spite of prevailing challenging situation, 
UBICO posted a satisfactory result in 2016. During 
the year, UBICO posted a positive profit trend. 
Asset of the company grew by 5% and investment 
portfolio increased by 41%.

Our success is founded on ethical leadership, 
teamwork and a commitment in providing value 
for all stakeholders. UBICO has rightly recognized 
that a happy team is very important for success 
of the company. As a part of company’s human 

resource development program, a large number of 
employees were sent to different training programs, 
which included both managerial and technical 
development. We have re-organized our treasury 
department for handling its operation more 
efficiently. We have organized a separate IT unit to 
gradually convert our operation in a more efficient 
and less paper consuming activities. 

UBICO believes that society is one of its contributors 
to business development and always tries to give 
back by playing a major role in CSR programs. Our 
aim is to do best to ensure that the credit we extend 
to our customers are utilized for environmentally 
sound and sustainable purposes. The company is 
committed to identify, monitor and manage the risks 
associated the business activities. To guard against 
the risk of financial crime within our business, we 
focus in training our employees, strengthening our 
screening system and ensuring that our policies and 
procedures are effective and up to date. To evaluate 
the company’s risks, we have an Asset Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO) formed by the 
senior officials.  We devote our efforts to minimize 
the damaging effects of financial crimes on our 
business, our customers, and community. Money 
laundering, a criminal act recognized all over the 
world has very severe consequence in the economy 
and security of the society. The management has 
evolved such a culture for the company so that all 
the employees strictly adhere to each and every 
provision of Money laundering regulations. We are 
also sincere to comply with the regulatory guidelines. 
In compliance with the Central Bank regulations, we 
have adopted proper Green Banking, SME Financing 
and Money Laundering Prevention policies.

Keeping in line with our mission and vision, we 
have adopted a prudent risk policy in targeting 
and selecting investment opportunities. We always 
prioritize with minimum risk and maximum impact 
on our investment activities. Till date we have 
been successful in maintaining negligible non-
performance loan (NPL). Our Risk Management 
Forum (RMF) is also fully conscious in maintaining 
quality of our investment activities. As advised by 
the Central Bank to minimize market risk, we have 
adopted sensitivity analysis and stress testing 
practice. We have implemented liquidity risk 
management system through proper budgeting                  
and forecasting of liquidity requirements.
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Our organization has achieved ISO Certificate 9001-
2008 which took a process of over 2 years with a 
long step to follow and maintain. So far we are the 
only Financial Institution in Bangladesh which has 
achieved the same from Bangladesh Standards & 
Testing Institute (BSTI). 

Ethic is a key to business success. UBICO adheres 
to the highest ethical standards and beliefs. The 
company prioritizes statutory compliance and has 
a code of conduct for employees, who are required 
to read, understand and follow this document. We 
have an Integrity Committee which focuses on good 
governance.

During the year UBICO has been very active in 
expanding its investment activities through various 
partners across Bangladesh. So far a number of 
233 Cottage, Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
(CMSME) have been benefitted from our support. 
Around 6497 female entrepreneurs of CMSME 
received our support. Total 6730 male and female 
entrepreneurs are engaged in various economic 
activities through our support. This is a remarkable 
achievement within such limited capacity. 

In 2017 we will continue to build progress made 
over the last years. We will concentrate on delivering 

our commitments for socio-economic development 
of Bangladesh. We will continue our activities in line 
with the regulatory compliances and in line with 
stakeholder’s expectation.

Finally on behalf of the management team, I would 
like to express my heartiest gratitude to the Chairman, 
Directors of our Board for their active support, 
proper guidance and inspiration. I also thankfully 
acknowledge the support and cooperation that 
the company received from Ministry of Finance, 
Bangladesh Bank and RJSC. I would like to thank my 
colleagues in management team for their dedication 
and hard work to continue our successful journey.

Allah Hafez.

Dr. S. M. Akbar

Managing Director  
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The Directors are pleased to present the financial 
results of the company as at the close of financial 
year 2016 together with the Directors’ Report for the 
events that occurred during 2016.

Economic Outlook

Bangladesh is one of the fastest growing economies 
in the world. During the past decade (from FY06 
to FY16) the nominal GDP of the country grew at 
a l3.6% CAGR. Economic growth achieved during 
FY16 broke all previous records and beat the target, 
increasing by 7.1l% in real terms. The government 
has set the FY17 GDP growth target at 7.20% which 
is ambitious but achievable. 

Inflation has come down to a comfortable range. 
The 12 month average inflation as of Nov’ 16 
stood at 5.60% which was 6.20% in Nov’ 15. This is 
below the government’s FY 17 target (5.80%). The 
government has already cut down local oil prices 
once and it is expected that the prices are going to 
be cut again. Our currency has been quite strong 
compared to those in the countries which are our 
major sources of imports. This, coupled with lower 
oil and commodity prices, is reducing our import 
cost. This is also helping to keep inflation in check. 

Remittance suffered ~10% de-growth in 2016 due 
to the reduced income of the oil-exporting Middle 
Eastern countries which are our major sources of 
remittance. However, oil prices have most likely seen 
their worst and recent decision by the OPEC to cut 

oil production will possibly sustain oil prices at the 
current level. Moreover, as per data from the Bureau 
of Manpower, Employment, and Training (BMET), 
the number of overseas employment of Bangladeshi 
workers has increased by ~ 35%YoY in 2016.

The forex reserve of the country stood at USD 32.09 
bn at the end of Dec’ l6. This amount is adequate 
to meet more than 9 months of our import bill. The 
government has projected reserve to reach USD 
38.7 bn by the end of FY17. 

The stable economic condition amidst a calm 
political climate and higher level of development 
projects is expected to attract higher amount of FDI 
and FPI inflow in the coming years

Low inflation, low government borrowing, and 
huge amount of excess liquidity in the banking 
system has resulted in very low-interest rates. 
Government borrowing is still low, but there are 
huge development projects in the pipeline which 
will most likely give a boost to public credit in the 
near future. The excess liquidity will provide shield 
against crowding out effect. Private credit growth 
has picked up. As of Oct’ l6, private credit growth 
stood at l5.2% YoY. Government targeted 16.5% 
growth in private credit for FY17, which is possible. 

(Ref: Research Paper –Market Pulse/Lanka Bangla)

UBICO’s Operation Strategy:

The operational strategy of UAE-Bangladesh 

Director’s Report
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Investment Company Limited is to participate 
in the socio-economic development activity of 
Bangladesh. Its main focuses are revolved around to 
contribute for (i) sustainable economic growth and 
(ii) social development.

Taking into account the inherent risk factors, 
our current operation are mainly focused on 
private sector development, supporting existing 
investment, encouraging the growth of small 
and medium enterprises, promoting women 
entrepreneurs. UBICO is assisting the private sector 
of Bangladesh to play an increasingly important role 
in the socio-economic development of Bangladesh.  

Going Concern 

Going concern is a fundamental principle underlying 
the preparation of the financial statements of a 
company. Bangladesh Accounting Standards require 
Directors to consider whether there are material 
uncertainties that would lead to significant doubt 
about a company’s ability to continue for foreseeable 
period. 

The financial statements of UBICO have been 
prepared on a going concern basis. In making this 
assessment, the Directors have considered a wide 
range of information relating to present and future 
conditions covering principal activities, strategic 
directions and challenges and uncertainties 
together with a review of the income statement, 
financial position and risk profile. In addition the 
Directors have considered the future projections of 
profitability, cash flows, asset quality, the outcome of 
various stress tests and capital resources in making 
their assessment. After assessment, the Directors are 
satisfied that the Company has adequate resources 
to continue its operation for the foreseeable future 
and therefore continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements. 

Fairness of the Accounts 

The Directors accept responsibility for the annual 
financial statements, which have been prepared 
using appropriate accounting  policies  supported  
by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates, in conformity  with  International  Financial  
Reporting Standards  (IFRS),  the  requirements  of  
the Companies Act,  1994 and Financial Institutions 
Act, 1993.  The Directors are  of  the  opinion  that  the 

financial  statements  give  a  true  and  fair  view  of  
the state  of  the  financial  affairs  of  the  Company  
and  of its profits for the year ended 31 December 
2016.

Corporate Governance 

Sound and effective corporate governance has 
always been a priority for UBICO. The Board of 
Directors and management of UBICO are committed 
to govern and maintain Company’s operations 
effectively within its regulatory environment. 
UBICO’s corporate governance policies are designed 
to strengthen the ability of the Board to effectively 
supervise management and enhance long term 
shareholder value. As a sign of good corporate 
governance, UBICO obtained ISO certificate on its 
management system.

Recovery position:

We have received all installments against our term 
loan finance on time as per repayment schedule. 

Financial Results & Appropriations:

The Directors are pleased to submit the audited 
financial statements of the company for the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

In the year 2016, the net assets of the company have 
increased by 6.05% compared to last year. This is a 
positive scenario in spite of volatile investment and 
capital market position during this year. 

During 2016, revenue from investment of the 
company has also increased by 33.42% compared 
to last year. This growth reveals the efficiency of 
operational and financial management of the 
company. 

The expenditures of the company were strictly 
controlled throughout the year 2016 and in line with 
the budget. The expenditures decreased by 2.08% in 
2016 compared to the year 2015.

In 2016, the company achieved investment target. 
Total loan portfolio stood at Tk 1,018.56 million 
which was 41% higher than previous year. During 
the year money market encountered with huge idle 
money. As a result, both deposit and lending rate 
decreased drastically which affected profitability. 
Even after that we made net profit of Tk 84.51 million 
which is satisfactory compared to the industry. 
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Consequently, the following financial performances 
have improved:

- Return on equity of 5.31% is satisfactory. 

- Earnings Per Share of Tk 5,542 is a significant 
achievement.

• Special Reserve 

As per Article 71 of the Articles of Association of 
the Company, the company shall maintain special 
reserve up to 20% of the paid-up capital. Balance of 
special reserve is Tk. 76,587,812 which is 7.66% of 
paid-up capital. The Board, therefore, recommended 
to appropriate 20% of net profit to the special 
reserve in this year.  

• Statutory Reserve 

The Directors proposed to transfer 20% of net profit 
of 2016 to Statutory Reserve as per clause 6 of the 
Financial Institutions Regulations, 1994. 

• Dividend 

Considering the scenario of the financial sector 
and current strength of the company, the Board of 
Directors has recommended 25% of profit as cash 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

Corporate Social Responsibility:

During the year 2016, UBICO has extended a fund of 
Tk 1.69 million (US$ 21,125 @ 1 US$ = Tk 80) to the 
following organizations:     

Name of the 
Organization/Person Sector Purpose

Public Awareness Social Cause To circulate integrity slogan through a billboard 
to create public awareness against corruption.

Ms. Mahfuza Khatun 
Shila Sports

To support medical treatment of father of Ms. 
Mahfuza Khatun Shila, a achiever of “Double 
Gold Medal” in South Asian Games 2016 for 
Bangladesh.

Anjuman Mufidul 
Islam Philanthropy

To provide blankets for distribution among 
helpless cold affected people through Anjuman 
Mufidul Islam.

Radio Bikrampur Community Service

To provide equipment in the office premises 
of Radio Bikrampur which broadcasts various 
social and cultural programs for social 
awareness among mass people at Munshigonj 
District.

Development 
Initiative for Social 
Advancement (DISA) 

Education
To distribute books among various rural 
libraries of Bangladesh with the help of 
Aloghar, a project of DISA.

Ghashful Paran 
Rahman School Education

To provide furniture to use for the students of 
Ghashful Paran Rahman School run by a non-
profit social organization.

ActionAid Bangladesh Social Cause

To implement the project - “Socio-Economic 
Empowerment of the members of Shetu 
Bondhon Gori Network (Let’s build the bridge 
network) – a Network of Acid Survivors”.
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Board Meetings and AGM Held in 2016:

The four meetings (54th, 55th, 56th and 57th 
meeting) of the Board of Directors of the company 
were held on 30 March 2016, 01 June 2016, 05 
October 2016 and 28 December 2016 respectively. 
The 28th Annual General Meeting of the company 
was held on 30 March 2016.

Annual General Meeting

The 29th Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is going to be held on May 04, 2017 to transact the 
following ordinary businesses:

• To receive, consider and adopt the audited 
financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 including the reports 
of the Directors and Auditor

• To declare dividend for the year 2016 as 
recommended by the Board of Directors

• To appoint the statutory auditor for the year 
2017 and fixation of their remuneration

Directors: 

The Directors representing the Government of 
Bangladesh as on December 31, 2016 were:

 Mr. Md. Eunusur Rahman

 Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat
The directors representing the Abu Dhabi Fund for 
Development as on December 31, 2016 were:

 Mr. Faisal Al Suwaidi

 Mr. Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh

 Mr. Zayed Ahmed Daiban 

Auditors 

M/S ACNABIN, Chartered Accountants was 
appointed as auditor for the year 2016 in the 28th 
Annual General Meeting of the company held on 
March 30, 2016. 

We would like to express our heartfelt thanks to 
the valued shareholders, regulators, clients, partner 
banks and other business associates for their valuable 
support and cooperation extended during the last 
year and to the company’s dedicated team of human 
resources for their hard work and commitment for 
the development of the company. 

Thanking you.  

 On behalf of the Board                               

Dated, Dhaka  Md. Eunusur Rahman Faisal Al Suwaidi
May 04, 2017 Deputy Chairman  Chairman
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As of and for the years ended 31 December

Five Years Financial Summary

OPERATING PERFORMANCE 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Operating revenue 134.25 147.25 142.28 132.87 115.31

Operating profit 94.43 106.28 102.28 97.73 84.20

Net profit 84.51 105.45 104.79 90.80 82.83

Earnings per share (EPS ) Taka in BDT 5,542 6,915 6,872 5,954 9,186

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets 1,031.47 1,053.65 1,075.36 1,053.38 1,005.53

Total assets 1,591.88 1,515.51 1,423.98 1,347.02 1,262.68

Property, plant and equipment at cost 11.97 11.94 7.43 6.91 6.65

Net current assets 506.67 733.10 861.16 914.29 915.00

Long term liabilities 87.78 84.09 82.95 78.63 76.93

Current liabilities 43.22 33.92 5.34 12.51 3.29

Total liabilities 131.00 118.01 88.29 91.14 80.22

Shareholders’ fund 1,460.88 1,397.50 1,335.69 1,255.89 1,182.46

Capital Employed 1,548.66 1,481.59 1,418.64 1,334.52 1,259.39

PROFITABILITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross operating margin ratio (%) 70.34 72.17 71.89 73.55 73.02

Earnings before interest, depreciation and tax 95.60 107.07 105.12 91.01 83.00

Net profit margin (%) 62.95 71.61 73.65 67.34 71.83

Operating expense to operating revenue (%) 29.66 27.62 28.12 26.44 26.98

BUSINESS RATIOS

Net interest income as % of working funds 8.58 9.78 10.03 9.96 9.84

Return on average assets (%) 5.44 7.17 7.56 6.96 8.55

Net asset value per share 95,795 91,939 87,586 82,353 77,538

Profit per employee 6.50 7.53 7.49 6.49 6.37

Operating profit as a % of working fund 6.10 7.19 7.43 7.49 9.17

EQUITY STATISTICS

Authorized capital 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Paid up share capital 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Number of shares 15,250 15,250 15,250 15,250 15,250

Shareholders’  equity 1,460.88 1,397.50 1,335.69 1,255.89 1,182.46
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Graphical Data of Business Performance

Growth of total assets
The total assets of the company as on December 31, 
2016 was Tk 1,591.88 million compared to Tk. 1,515.51 
million registering a growth of 5.04 percent. Despite 
slow investment environment and comparatively 
lower interest rate UBICO could maintain its assets 
growth during 2016.

Operating revenue
Company’s operating revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 was Tk 93.79 million as against 
Tk 70.30 million of 2015. Despite slow investment 
environment and comparatively lower interest rate 
UBICO could increase operating revenue by 33.41 
percent in 2016. 

Investment growth
The total investment portfolio of the company as 
on December 31, 2016 was Tk 1,026.40 million 
compared to Tk. 731.14 million registering a growth 
of 40.38 percent. Despite slow investment situation 
and comparatively higher money supply UBICO could 
maintain its remarkable investment growth during 
2016.

Sector-wise Investment
The company has a diversified investment portfolio 
with the highest concentration to Small & Medium 
Entrepreneur Sector, Trade & Commerce and 
Agriculture Sector. 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

BDT in mio

Total Assets Growth

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

BDT in mio

Operating Income

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

BDT in mio

Investment growth

Graphical Presentation



This financial review is provided for enabling our 
different stakeholders and readers to assess financial 
results of operation and financial position of the UAE-
Bangladesh Investment Company Limited for the 
year ended December 31, 2016. This review should 
be read in conjunction with the audited financial 
statements for the year 2016.

Basis of financial review
The review has been made on the audited financial 
statements of the UAE-Bangladesh Investment 
Company Limited for the year ended December 
31, 2016 which was prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standard as 
adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Bangladesh and local laws & regulations. Appropriate 
accounting policies have consistently been applied 
in preparation of the financial statements and 
accounting estimates are based on reasonable and 
prudent judgment.

Financial Overview
In spite of uncertain local political scenario along 
with volatile financial and capital market, we made 
a significant business growth during this year 2016. 
The recovery of loan and lease installment was 100% 
during the year 2016. In addition, we successfully 

disbursed to our approved projects by which our 
investment portfolio increased.  

Financial Performance:
The financial growth during the year 2016 significantly 
increased with an increment in net interest revenues 
by 33.42% over the year 2015.  At the end of the year 
2016, total assets of the company also grew by 5% 
compared to the year 2015. 

The total expenses of the company were strictly 
controlled throughout the year and were in line with 
the budget. The operating expenditures decreased 
by 2% in 2016 compared to the year 2015. 

Despite slow investment environment and 
comparatively lower interest rate UBICO maintained 
a positive trend of interest income on loan in 2016.

Financial Indicators

-    Return on equity for the year is 6.00% which is 
remarkable. 

-  Assets growth is 5% which is a significant 
achievement.

- Net Asset Value per share increased 5% in 2016.

Financial Review
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Financial Highlights

Operating revenue is in satisfactory trend compared 
to market scenario.  
 

The operating expenses  decreased in 2016. 
 

During the last five year, UBICO has a satisfactory net 
profit trend. 

The assets and investments of the company have also 
a positive growth.

Financial Results in 2016

Percentage of increase (decrease) in 2016 over 2015

Revenue & Expenditures

Income from loan, leases and investments 33.42%
Income from treasury management  -47.77%
Other investment income -35.85%
Total Revenue -8.82%
 

Management Expenses -2.08%
Financial Expenses 0.00%
Provision for loans & Investment 783.38%
Total Expenses  19.02%
Net Profit -19.86%
 

Assets and Investments  

Loans, leases and advances 40.82%

Investments (Equity) 0%

Fixed Assets net of depreciations -24.52%

Cash & Cash Equivalents -28.31%

Other Assets 4.84%
Total Assets  5.04%
Net Assets  4.54%

 
Shareholder’ equity and liabilities
Shareholder’ equity  4.54%

Other liabilities 11.00%
Total equity and liabilities 5.04%

Revenue
During the year 2016, the revenue from loan, lease 
and advance have increased by 33.42% compared to 
the previous year. In spite of drastic market fall, the 
income from treasury management decreased by 
47.77% in 2016 which indicates the lower dependency 
in treasury income. The net profit of the company 
decreased by 19.86% in 2016 over the previous year 
2015 mainly due to comparatively lower interest rate. 

Operating Expenses
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Loans & Investments
In the year 2016, the loan, leases and advances of 
the company increased by 40.82% compared to the 
previous year as new disbursement was made in 2016.
The loans and investment portfolio of UAE-Bangladesh 
Investment Company Limited for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 was as below:

Fixed  Assets
During the year 2016, there are no major changes as the 
company purchased some new computer accessories. 

Other Assets
The cash and cash equivalents including short term 
fund decreased by 28.31% in 2016 over the previous 
year due to disbursement of new term loan in 2016.

Shareholder’s capital and reserves
The shareholders capital and reserves of the company 
increased by 5.04% compared to year 2015 due to 
achievement of net profit in 2016. 

Provision 
As per FID circular No. 08 dated 03-08-2002, the 
company made required provision for loans and 
investment during the year 2016. 

Dividend
Considering the overall performance of the company 
and in order to maintain a satisfactory capital base, 
the Board of Directors has recommended 25% cash 
dividend of net profit for the year 2016.

Audit Opinion
In the opinion of our statutory auditor, the financial 
statements of the company give a true and fair view 
of the financial position for the year ended December 
31, 2016. 

Current Liabilities 
The current liabilities, which include the outstanding 
telephone expenses, audit fee etc, will be settled in 
2017.

Long Term Liabilities 
The long term liabilities, which include the provision 
for gratuity fund for the employees of the company.

Capital Management
The framework of Capital Management has been 
designed prudently which ensures that UBICO 
maintains sufficient Capital consistent with its risk 
profile, all regulatory requirements. The Capital 
Management process is consistently reviewed by 
the Senior Management as well as by the Board and 
appropriate decisions is adopted from time to time 
to strengthen our capital base. In view of the above, 
UBICO retains a major portion of net profit in reserve 
and surplus. 

Budgeting
Budgeting is a strategy which acts as controlling tool 
for achieving desired future outcome under changing 
scenario. Budgetary achievements were reviewed 
on monthly basis and variances were scrutinized for 
finding necessary business directions.

Trade &
Commerce 35%

Power 1%

Others (SME
Finance) 36%

Housing 1%

Garments & Knitwear 1%

Paper, Printing & 
Packaging 1%

Agreeculture 25%

Investment Portfolio

Retention of Pro�t

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Section - C
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Our main focus is to maintain sustainable investment activities. Shareholders of UBICO deploy its resources, i.e., 
equity capital to different viable projects through its various product / structure for specific outcome. Through our 
activities, we help the economy to expand its size and add value in macro perspective of the economy.

Our main focus is to maintain sustainable investment activities. Shareholders of UBICO deploy 
its resources, i.e., equity capital to different viable projects through its various product / structure 
for specific outcome. Through our activities, we help the economy to expand its size and add 
value in macro perspective of the economy.

Value chain
Our shareholders provide equity fund for investment with viable projects. The project promoters 
use the fund to implement projects, generate jobs, create economic value and expand national 
economy. 

Sustainability of value chain
The success of our company depends on the macro aspect of the country. Sustainability depends 
on the total scenario of the country we operate, i.e., economic, political, social. Therefore for 
any company, sustainability depends on sustainable growth or return on equity. Sustainable 
return enables the company to fulfill its obligation to shareholders, employees, community. 
Therefore, our company takes appropriate steps to discharge its responsibilities towards the 
local community, environmental issues and relationship with other stakeholders. 

Value Creation



As per charter of our company, UBICO is committed for socio-economic development of Bangladesh. Therefore 
the core objective of the company is to create value for the society through its various activities. UBICO prefer to 
create social values in a transparent and ethical ways.

Our CSR principles

•	 The company is dedicated to its vision and mission.

•	 Shall continue our endeavor in a fair and transparent manner.

•	 Shall pursue for high ethical standard.

•	 Extend full respect to human dignity.

•	 Remain compliant with local laws and regulations.

•	 Ensure a harmonious environment relationship for employees.

•	 Maintain proper reporting system.

Our responsibilities for Investment activities

•	 Our company continuously looks for investment opportunities in viable projects of private sector.

•	 We always provide professional services to make the project and investment viable.

•	 We encourage open communication in our decision process.

•	 We insist on ethical and transparent practices in all activities.

Responsibilities to shareholders

•	 We try our best to maintain ideal corporate governance.

•	 We provide transparent financial information and reporting.

•	 We make best effort in maintaining sustainable return on investment.

Corporate Social Responsibilities



Handing over Blanket for cold Affected 
Poor People through TMSS

Ovserving book distribution program on 
Internaitonal Mother Language Day 2017

Handing over of Cheque to Radio Bikrampur 
for procurement of equipment

CSR Activities
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Handing over Blanket for cold 
Affected  Poor People

Handing over Cheque for procurement of 

Furniture for Ghashful Paran Rahman School

Handing over Blanket for cold 
Affected  Poor People 

CSR Activities
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In line with global development and response to the environmental degradation, the central bank of Bangladesh 
has introduced Green Banking Policy and sustainable practices for all the bank and financial institutions in 
Bangladesh.

The main purpose of Green Banking policy is to ensure necessary measures to protect environmental pollution 
while providing services of financing customers as well as to improve in house environment management through 
efficient use of various resources and to save our world for our better futuare through an integrated effect of all 
stakeholders and build awareness among the people.

As per green banking policy of Central Bank, UBICO board has adopted a 3 Phase Green Banking implementation 
plan as below: 

Phase I: Developing Green Banking Policy and show general commitments on environment through in house 
performance

Phase II: Developing and planning to sector identification strategic planning, setting in-house improvement 
work, awareness build program and report to Central Bank

Phase III: Designing eco friendly prudent and prepare Green Report for external verification 

By adopting the Green Banking Policy, UBICO will contribute with others to build a sustainable world in the 
following manners:

- Build up the image of UBICO among the stakeholders 

- Reduce operational cost due to less consumption of office stationeries, energy and water

- Improve productivity as well as efficiency of the employees through skilled and optimum use of technology.

- Able to reduce possible health hazards by installing eco-friendly equipments.

- Contribution to save the frostery by reducing paper usages

-  Emission of Green House Gases (GHG) may lessen through teleconferencing with stakeholders 

-  Build up customer consciousness on environment by arranging awareness development program. 

Our Green Banking
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A value added statement (VAS) is a statement showing the net added value of a business firm during a certain 

period on its total transaction. The value added statement is an indicative tool that demonstrates the strength of a 

company in creating wealth during the period by utilizing its capacity, capital, manpower and other resources. For 

a financial institution value addition refers to the profit that is earned over the year as well as distribution of the 

added value refers to dividend to shareholder, payment to employee and government  and amount retained in 

the business as capital  and revenue reserve . A value added statement is regarded as a part of social responsibility 

accounting.

Particulars 31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

31 December 
2013

Value Added 

Net Interest Income  144,972,892   130,150,395    129,536,662     106,274,290 

Other Income  1,745,268     12,131,665        3,331,613         9,036,940 

Provision 2,594,970 (2,516,097) 6,936,382 1,369,293 

Operating expenses excluding
salary & allowance and depreciation

15,876,291 15,884,196     16,667,650 15,382,702 

Total Value Added by the company 128,238,994 128,130,507 110,549,191 98,619,334 

Distribution of value addition

Employees as salary & allowances  22,778,787 23,991,617 23,012,292 19,531,176 

Shareholders as dividend  21,128,192 20,690,707      20,958,336      18,159,662

Retained in the business as capital  
and revenue reserve  63,384,577 84,762,828  83,833,343  72,638,649

Depreciation 1,167,632 793,842        326,537          219,704

Total distribution of value addition 108,459,188 130,238,994     128,130,507     110,549,191

Value Added Statement
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Contribution to National Economy

As a financial institution, UBICO is contributing positvely for the national economy of Bangladesh

Promoting 
Enterprises Industry

The company is contributing 
its effort to increase its investment 

activities to promote SME, Women 
Entrepreneur, Green Banking Projects. As 

at 31st December 2014 our investment 
portfolio has a growth of 35.54% 

over the previous year.

Generation of
Employment

Through our invested project, with 
the expansion of economic activities, 
various enterprises recruited more 

manpower to meet the growing 
activities.

National Budget
We contribute to the national 

budget through timely payment of 
VAT, AIT, Excise Duty, Supplementary 

Duty, Surcharge, Source Tax etc. 
During the year we have paid a 

sum of Tk. 28.78 lacs. 

Policy
Implementation

UBICO always plays a positive role 
in implementing various policies of  

the Government.

Donation & CSR
The Company is committed to 

the local society and participates 
within its budget for various social 
causes. During the year  we have 

contributed an amount of Tk. 
14.40 lacs.

National Growth
UBICO is contributing for national 

growth by increasing its investment 
activities, paying dividend, employee 
salary payment etc. During the year the 

company paid 20% cash dividend to its 
shareholders.
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Success Story-1: Stitching dreams on 
Zamdani

“Sir, want to purchase Zamdani?  We have various 
embroidered and colored Zamdani collection”, a boy 
aged 8-10 asked me. With me, there was Akhtar, the 
local Manager of DISA micro-finance as a companion. 
The boy was eager to take us to a Zamdani shop. 
Presenting a soft smile, I asked the boy, “Hello young 
man, can you tell us, where is the house of Rina and 
Habib?” Looking directly at my eyes he enquired, “Is 
that the Rina aunt of Molla Bari? I confirmed. He told 
then, “Please follow me”. Without any further talk, we 
abide by the command. 

We are here at Sonargaon Zamdani Palli, the heart of 
Dhakaiya Zamdani Sarees. These Zamdani (a typical 
handmade embroidered Saree) are popular in the 
world for centuries due to gorgeous and eye catching 
designs of those. Our mission is to talk to Rina, a 
reputed Zamdani maker in the area.

Each and every house of this village has got their 
own Zamdani making looms. Anybody can see that 
all the members living in the houses here are busy for 
cutting stings, or coloring cloths, stitching Zamdani or 

any other related jobs. When we reached in front of a 
tin shed building, a woman aged around 40 came in 

front of us. Akhter indicated, “She is our DISA member 
Rina and famous here for making Zamdani”. Rina and 
her husband greeted us and arranged our sitting. We 
detailed them the reason for the visit.

w that you are doing wonderful job in Zamdani 
making. Today we are here to listen to your, stories. 
Something like- how you started the business, the 
way you are managing sell, what is your future plan 
etc.”  Rina and her husband exchanged their look for a 
twinkle of an eye and then without any hesitation Rina 
started telling us their stories of joys and sorrows.

“We did not have any opportunity to learn Zamdani 
making from family, like many others doing here 
traditionally. Just 12 years ego my husband started to 
learn Zamdani making from Kazibari as labor. Learning 
the trade in two years, he started the business with 
only one machine. At the beginning, I used to help him 
with coloring and cutting stings, arranging equipment 
etc. Gradually, I also learnt making Zamdani. When our 
business flourished, we put six machines and engaged 
8 skilled labors from outside. Now we can produce 7-8 
Zamdani Sarees per week. Four years back we were in 
deep economic crisis to continue the business. At that 
time, I talked with our neighbor Shahidaapa and joined 
the local MFI- DISA’s Borogaon working women group. 
I started savings with them and took 10,000 taka as 
loan from them. Gradually, my loan amount increased 
to taka 60,000 and got the opportunity for invest more 
in our business. In the selling process, we regularly 
sell our products at Derma haat and sometimes the 
traders collect those from our home with cash. Now 
we have eight labors and can produce 20-30 Sarees 
per month. Economically, we are solvent now and wish 
to continue higher education for our children. 

Rina showed some of her products to us. The prices 
were ranging from 5,000 to 50,000 taka. Hard work, 
creativity and dreams of Rina & her husband were 
seemingly visible through the attractive designs and 
color of these embroidery Zamdani Sarees.

Our Investment Impact

Financial support for Cottage, Micro, Small & Medium
Enterprises development through DISA- MFI
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Success Story-2: Afia’s tale of 
pride in Potato cultivation

The red sun of the day-end was about to set on the 
other side of the huge potato field at Mridhabari 
village, Chandina, Comilla.
“This season I engaged more labors, bought some 
new land also”,  said Afia Begum (48), the secretary of 
the Tatera working women group, Chandina, Comilla, 
presently a successful potato cultivator.
The moment she saw us from the potato field, with clay 
mix hand, she came closer.  Her family condition a few 
years back was not so much comfortable as of today. In 
fact, the hostile situation always teaches the human-
being how to accept the life and prepare oneself to 
live in it with courage and dignity. Those who never 
admit defeat against all the ups and downs of life, they 
can be real worthy of being the controller and modifier 
of the society. And in case, if it is a woman, inevitably 
it can be regarded as an unforgettable milestone for 
the society like us. In her life, the fire was ignited with 
the logs of plans for changing life. There lies the tale 
of struggles for diligent Afia Begum, to shun of those 
disgracing days full of distress and remorse. 

\

The 7-member family of Afia, consisting of her 
husband, 2 daughters and 3 sons along with herself, 
used lead their day to day life with much hardship. 
Besides the only home-stead (vita), they had no land, 
no property. Her husband was the only earning 
member of this poor family.  He merely could afford 
the required daily food for the children through the 
earning what he used to get by cultivating rice, wheat 
in the others land like a day laborer. The initiative of 
education for the children remained always a dream to 
the family.  Afia Begum, as such, was compelled to 
send her eldest son to Dhaka to work as mechanic so 
that their daily life could have slightly been quenched. 

Poverty was all around the family. It was quite often 
seen that at the end of every month, they had to 
borrow money from others to run the family. All these, 
made Afia to think continuously for a way-out for her 
family from this unbearable circumstances. She was 
restless in search of means to blow the gentle breeze 
of solvency and flexibility, by removing the poverty.
In the way, she observed that many of her neighbors 
are cultivating winter vegetables and potherb taking 
loan from the micro-finance institutions and thereby 
trying to increase their family income.
The area was renowned for winter vegetable cultivation 
from long before. Afia was delighted with the idea of 
doing something unique by her-self in the process of 
becoming self-reliant. With the energized spirit, she 
then communicated to the Micro Finance Institution 
(MFI) Tatera Working Women group society of “DISA”, 
which is situated at Chandina Thana. The manager of 
the branch of ‘DISA’ provided the first installment of 10 
thousand taka as loan, delivered required information 
about potato-cultivation and inspired a lot to go forth 
as well.
Having the first installment of 10 thousand taka, she 
added more amounts from her own personal savings 
and arrangements, Afia started potato cultivation 
for the first time, in 2010. She took few satak land of 
a neighbor in lease for 2 years. Her first investment 
in this business was about total Tk. 50 thousand. The 
return was significant.
Gradually her profit in the business started expanding. 
Paying back her past loan, she took loan again from 
‘DISA’, bought own land so that she could cultivate 
potato in bigger scale. Afia begum has received the 
loan facility overall for 6 times from (MFI) ‘DISA’ in the 
last 6 years. About Tk. 55 thousand is currently running 
in her business. They can manage the required 
preparatory & maintenance jobs in the other time of 
a year by themselves, but during the season of potato 
cultivation & collection, they need to hire 4-6 workers 
on per day basis. Keeping aside all the expenses her 
net monthly income is about 20-25 thousand taka. Her 
total volume of property presently includes land of 
13 satak and a pond of 19 satak, bought by the profit 
money from potato cultivation. She is at present is 
the Secretary of Tatera Working Women Co-operative 
society of “DISA”.
“...now we don’t have to go for loan of money to run the 
family. We are being able to educate our (my) children, 
arranged marriage for my eldest daughter. When the 
old days are reminded of, it seems a nightmare to 
me....I can’t help thinking of it.” said Afia wiping tears 
of her eyes with the loose end of her sari. Now her 
family has got no scarcity, no regret, repentance or 
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lamentation. Now Afia plans for a new fish cultivation 
activities commercially in her own pond taking large 
scale loan from ‘DISA’. “...on that moment if the sisters 
and staffs of DISA would not have stood beside me, 
coming to this stage had not surely be possible for us.” 
Afia added more by herself.
Today at the backyard of her house when the gentle 
breeze blows over the potato field, it reminds us of 
her soft smiling face. Afia’s bold determination to 
eradicate poverty from her life with the assistance of 
‘DISA’ has proved that there are ways to overcome all 
the obstacles of life to achieve happiness. That is why 
she is not merely a housewife, but an icon of struggling 
soul in this village.

Success Story-3: Sweet dream of 
Garden of purple eggplant

“First measure the weight, and then bind the bundle 
tight. Put aside the bad ones.  They will come to take 
the goods few minutes later,” Amena Begum (29) 
was instructing the labors. Shahpur village of Barura, 
Comilla is famous for vegetable cultivation. There is no 
vegetable left around the place that is not cultivated 
here. All kinds of green vegetables like potato, bean, 
cauliflower, tomato, bottle-gourd, cabbage etc. grows 
in this area very well. We came here to talk with Amena, 
a member of (MFI) DISA for the last 10 years and also a 
vegetable growing farmer residing in the Mistiri Bari of 
Shahpur village. 

Amena got married while studying in class eight. 
Her husband was a rickshaw puller. Their family had 
acute financial distress earlier. Having 3 sons and one 
daughter, Amena lead the family with great hardship 
and lots of struggles. But with her self-confidence and 
stout personality she started cultivating cauliflower 
and eggplants in their own land of 10 decimal (satak) 
that initiated change in her life. Amena earned more 
than 30 thousand taka in her first move.

Amena thought it would rather be a blessing if she 
could add some (thing) money earned through 
any productive means with the little income of her 
husband, that will contribute in reducing the misery 
of poverty for the family. In that pursuit she got 
membership in the local Shahpur wotking women 
group in 2006. “First a loan of 10 thousand adding with 
own 30 thousand taka, I started eggplant cultivation. 
Gradually I expand the business, winter is favorable to 
vegetable cultivation in the country, moreover market 
rate is also higher than the other seasons (time) of the 
year”, Amena was telling about starting of her venture. 
Presently, taking loan of one lakh taka from DSIA, 
she is cultivating eggplant and cauliflower adapting 
(through) scientific method and discarding use of 
pesticides.
“In future, I want to start a cattle farm. Price of cows 
goes higher during the period of Eid-ul-Adha, and 
as such it will help further income increase of our 
family. Accordingly I’ve informed the DISA officials to 
increase my loan facility”, Amena detailed her future 
planning. She is satisfied now. A numbers of duck, 
hens, & pigeons running in the yard of her do-chala 
tin shade house symbolizing her happiness. In fact, 
Amena has shown to all that it is possible to bring 
a radical financial growth by any person through 
the courageous initiative blended with hard work, 
intelligence and patience.

Success Story-4: Songs of new-days by 
handicrafts of Gita Rani

Gita Rani is living in the in-laws house Rahul Master Bari 
with her husband Ratan Chandra Sarkar, a carpenter 
with other members of the family in the village Bara 
Haripur, Barura, Comilla. Most of the women of this 
village depend on handicraft works. They make house-
hold items like Jhuri, Dala, Mora, Madur etc. with 
bamboo and cane. The artistic skills and improved 
creativity of making these products were inherited in 
the family for generations. We are now presenting the 
story of Gita Rani who added fortune in the process of 
financial growth of the family by her desires, patience 
and consistent labor.
Gita Rani’s husband used to work in a shop at Barura 
bazaar as an employee. They had 3 children – 2 boys 
and 1 girl and out of them the eldest boy, along with 
the girl were studying in a primary school nearby. To 
support all the family expenses both the husband and 
wife had to work.  In addition to their house for shelter 
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they had no more property but they were blessed 
with the intangible assets of handicrafts making skills 
received as natural phenomenon through the tradition 
of their ancestors.  The income they used to have per 
month, in return of their hard labor, was well enough 
to maintain the family expenses smoothly. But they 
had a big problem of paying back the installments 
charged by Mahajan against the loan taken by the 
fore-fathers. These types of syndicated Mahajan 
system were existed in many villages from long ego in 
exploiting the farmers and other village people. Gita 
and Ratan as such had to face the hardship. They were 
telling frustratingly:
 “We have got no other way but to pay-off the mahajan’s 
debt-installment first which is on higher interest rate, 
and was never reasonable, then with the balance, we 
are to run family. As such, many a time we go for loan 
from others.”  

Fade up Gita with the system, was reluctant to continue 
her life in the prevailing situation further. So, she 
desperately started looking for the way to get rid of 
such misery. She was confident with the thought that 
if she really tries, she can change the situation. 
Ventilating around, she came to know from the people 
of their village about DISA, the microfinance institution 
providing loan facility to the people aspirating to 
become self-reliant. Encouraged Gita one day visited 
the Secretary of the Haripur working women group of 
DISA. After discussions with her, she could very easily 
get a loan of 10 thousand taka at the first instant, as 
they had family business plus skill in making beautiful 
handicraft products. Gita opined, “Loan from DISA can 
be had very easily adapting less formality in 
comparison to other financial sectors”. 
She invested the loan money for buying raw materials 
like bamboo, rope, cane, wood etc. and continued her 
business. The first profit earned out of this business was 
not that much but enough for her family. She repaid 
the loan amount and went for next one to enlarge 
the business with increased quantity of products. 
Thus in the last 5 years Gita received loan from DSIA 
for 3 times. With appropriate investments she could 

raise her monthly income to Tk.15,000.00 net and 
no other now can go for a bite on this as happened 
earlier.  Supporting all the family expenditures, she has 
recently bought a land property of one gonda, with a 
portion of saving she is maintaining for their children.
Inspired by Gita many villagers are trying to go for 
income generating businesses for them. She has 
shown everybody a path of achieving freedom from 
poverty overruling the syndicate of Mahajan-system. 
In the process, DISA supported Gita rightfully in the 
tune of their motto targeting eradication of poverty 
from the community. 

Success Story-5: Bamoboo basket: 
Rewarding hand-craft of Kohinur

It was a very hot noon. Though early February, the 
warm breeze indicated the feelings of late March. We 
have set out by motorbike of Bashar the local manager 
of (MFI) DISA, in search of a brave and self-reliant 
Kohinur under the midst of scorching heat of the sun. 
Kohinur lives in Nuru Bhuya’s Bari of Dimdul, situated 
at Barura, Comilla. “Kohinur has been a member 
of the group for 6 years, she is a hardworking and 
enthusiastic personality in this area” said Bashar while 
driving the bike. We approached to the destination 
in connection with the presentation of some case 
studies on economic contribution made by the rural 
women community supported by DISA. Freelance 
photographer Shovon Acharyya Ambu accompanied 
us in the event.

Amazed by the greenery and eye-pleasing sites on 
the way, Shovon said, “Village people grow here 
plenty of vegetables and also many are engaged in 
the preparation of handicrafts (works) at their home. 
These are really charming.  We can have many good 
subject to be captured”. We expressed our agreement 
with silent smile.

Reaching at the destination Bashar enquired, “Where is 
Kohinur? Come out please. They are our friends, came 
here to talk to you for a while”. We were just outside of 
the Kohinur’s House. A middle-aged woman came out 
of the home holding a bamboo-made half-finished 
basket in hand. After quick introduction, Shovon 
immediately started his activities with camera. In the 
gap, I asked Kohinoor to please narrate her experience 
she gathered in the process of basket making. Jahangir 
Alam joined us during the talk. Kohinur unfolded their 
past days of struggle.
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“I got (have been) married to this man since many 
years. At the time just I had finished my schooling in 
class five. We have two children; the boy studying in 
Hafizia Madrasa and the girl goes to school & is in class 
IV. My husband works as a mason. He had no bigger 
income. Moreover, many a time he had to be jobless. 
So, for me it was too difficult to run the family with 
such a little income. Financial troubles were all along. 
We did not have any land property except this house”. 
Kohinoor takes a break and after a quick look to her 
husband, she started again. “I learnt the work of 
making bamboo baskets at my parents’ home, so 
finding no other way; I started making Jhuri, Dala etc. 
with two or three bamboos at the first stage. Then I 
planned to go for these handicrafts making in large 
volume. We had no extra money for the investment. 
At that time I met a staff of DISA, who suggested me 
to utilize loan facilities offered by their organization on 
these types of activities. Then I joined the local Dimdul 
working women group of DISA. I started my business 
accordingly by the loan facilities.  Initially it was small, 
but within a very short time I reached to the position 
of expanding the activities. I was starting to get loan 
facilities with which I expanded my business. Now I 
can make around 40-50 Baskets in a day. Covering all 
other related costs, at the end of every month I used 
to have a balance of around Tk.5 – 7,000.00 in hand. 
Apart from this, taking mare loan from DISA, I have 
also started rearing cattle and sell them in season like 
the period of Eid-ul-Adha. By this, I earn a significant 
amount of money. I know tailoring jobs also, which I 
have learnt through training. To utilize my additional 

time, I am planning to go for a tailoring shop. I love 
to work, whatever may be type. Now I don’t afraid of 
going ahead as DISA is staying always with me.” 
Listening to Kohinur, we felt that her perspective of life 
is precious; there are many things to learn from this 
brave woman. DISA has rightfully supported a piece 
of diamond named Kohinur for the noble cause of 
economic development.

Success Story-6: Good days of Kulsuma
come back in Maize and Potato cultivation

Kulsuma got married at her very early age. Due to 
extreme poverty, her father didn’t want to keep his 
growing girl to be in their home. She could not go 
further with education after primary level of class five. 
Marriage with Liton, a three wheeler auto-rickshaw 
driver at Comilla city, did not change the fate. Tyranny 
of poverty followed Kulsuma from father’s home to 
Liton’s house. After paying off the daily rent of three 
wheeler to the owner, the balance income of Liton 
was not enough to maintain the family comfortably. 
In this situation Liton remembered that at the time of 
marriage Kulsuma’s father agreed to give money so 
that he can buy a three-wheeler in future. As such Liton 
wanted Kulsuma brings the money now so that he 
buys at-least a second-hand three wheeler. Economic 
condition of Kulsuna’s father was remaining the same 
and it was not possible the poor man to arrange 
money as desired by the son-in-law. Liton did not give 
up hope. He was impressing for money again and 
again but without any result. As such, Kulsuma had no 
way but to consume ill words from her husband many 
a time for her father’s failure. She was in a fix.

We were listening to Kulsuma of Mridhabari village, 
Chandina, Comilla, mother of a girl and a boy. The 
children were standing by her side putting their hands 
around her. Kulsuma served us tea and started telling 
her story.

There were only four members in Kulsuma’s family. 
She used send her children to the BRAC School, but 
she had always the desire to get them admitted in a 
better school to have better education by them.  The 
income was not supporting to go for materializing her 
desire. The family who live their lives with hardship in 
arranging food, thought of children’s education with 
additional financial burden is nothing but completely 
a day-dream. Without the ancestral home, they had 
no other property. But Kulsuma had believed on the 
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idea that, dreams of affluent fortune are always made, 
not automatically come. She saw many of her villagers 
were investing the loan facility from the micro-finance 
institution in different sector.  

Some were doing winter vegetables, maize, wheat or 
potato and some were undertaking activities (doing) 
from cattle-keeping & dairy to   fisheries in small scale. 
Most of them earned profit in their businesses and 
increased family income. 

Inspired Kulsuma   one day met the secretary of local 
Tatera Working Women group of (MFI) “DISA”. With 
a patience hearing and thereby considering her 
total condition, the secretary gave her suggestion 
for launching wheat-potato cultivation. She also 
explained to Kulsuma all about the loan facility. Adding 
a soft smile on the face, Kulsuma told us, “after meeting 
sisters/madams of “DISA”, trust me, my confidence (has 
been) level rose to such an extent...that I can’t tell you.  
I was convinced during (thinking,) the time, the state 
of doing something, has really come to me at last.”

She moved sincerely with honest planning. “Discussed 
about everything with my husband, He agreed with 
my desire. After all he was not a bad man,” Kulsuma 
started laughing with contentment.

At first she took some land in lease from a neighbor. 
With her little savings and loan from DISA, she invested 
around Tk. 15,000,00 for maize & potato cultivation. In 
spite of having less profit at the first harvest, she paid 

off the first installment and as such, DISA allowed loan 
to her again to expand the business. Afterward her 
monthly profit reached 25 thousand taka in addition 
to maintain all other. With relentless hard work and 
perseverance her 3 years of small business, she has 
now got a permanent shape and (coming to this) 
worry-free stage.  In the process, she had to take 3 
times loan facility from DISA. Right at this moment 
her total land property is about 8.5 ganda and she can 
now save money in the bank every month. 
“I am thinking that I will be taking another loan for 
buying a brand new CNG auto-rickshaw for the father 
of my children. Moreover, I will definitely get admitted 
the children in a good school when they will grow up 
a little more.” Kulsuma told about her future dream. 
Industry is the key to success, this proverb could be 
realized when we watch Kulsuma. Many of these 
villagers can get encouragement and inspiration to 
see her in the way of taking step to fulfill their dreams 
too. DISA has been helping such persons who believe 
that the development of the society and the state 
solely depend on the self-development.

Success Story-7: The story of a Lovely
and her poultry farm

“Sir, following the poultry farm of my wife, my cousins 
and neighbors has learnt how to run a poultry business.” 
said the husband of Lovely Begum of Premu Pashchim 
para, Devidwar, Comilla. The sound of thousand 
broiler chicken can be heard far from the poultry. We 
have come to hear the story of a self-reliant lady Lovely 
Begum (38) who was working near the farm.
Numbers of poultry farms are normally seen at present 
in Premu of Paschim para. It is learnt (can be known) 
that most of them came in this business of poultry 
farm following the path of Lovely, the beginner.
In the hope of living the life in solvency and 
happiness, her husband wanted to earn money by 
going to Saudi Arabia for job. Keeping own land of 
4 decimal in mortgage, he gave away all the money 
to a fraud recruiting agency. He had been cheated 
twice consecutively and lost four lakh taka. Under 
this situation he was bound to take job in a hotel at 
Dhaka. On the other hand, to continue education of 
her children Lovely thought of doing something of her 
own.
Driving out all the prejudices of rural area, she 
managed to receive one month long training on 
poultry at Nimtali, Dhaka.  Afterwards, at the initial 
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stage Lovely started the poultry business investing 
own 50 thousand along with 50 thousand taka 
arranged through loan, by establishing the poultry 
farm. Gradually it began to increase. Neighbors and 
relatives were also being influenced with her. Lovely 
has become a pioneer of poultry business in the 
village.

“There are 2,000 chicken in my farm, I have a wish of 
making the number 10,000.” said Lovely. She was the 
member of the local Premu Working Women Group of 
DISA. In the last 4 years she has taken loan for 5 times 
to enlarge her poultry. At present loan facilities about 
80,000 taka has been taken from DISA. “To enhance 
a small business into big, other institution like DISA 
has to come forward with loan facilities on easy terms 
and conditions.” commented Lovely about DISA. She 
is happy not only for the loan facilities but also for 
receiving the education scholarship by her elder 
daughter from DISA.
Lovely never wanted to lag behind in her life, and 
with this spirit she has become the role model of her 
own village by crossing over all the hindrances. Lovely 
has proven that a simple housewife can achieve self-
reliance, if she really wants.

Success Story-8: Tomato Cultivation 
through Micro-finance programme

Swinging under the gentle breeze, the dazzling 
field of tomato will catch anybody’s eye spread over 
around Tatera Bazar in winter. Located not far away 
from Chandina, Comilla, Tatera Bazar can be reached 
by small concrete road just within seven kilometer. 
The area is famous for winter vegetable cultivation 
which is larger in comparison to many other places 
of Bangladesh. Today we will tell the story of Majeda 

(40), a struggling woman of the area, made her dream 
come true with struggle and determination.
Like many other village women of the country, Majeda 
got married 23 years ago at very early of her age with 
Mr. Mofijul Islam of nearby Mridhabari area. With the 
passage of time, her family size enlarged to 8 members 
at present with 3 daughters and 3 sons.
Majeda could not continue her school studies beyond 
class iii due to sudden death of her father. After 
marriage the poverty-stricken situation made them 
to move to Comilla city with the aspiration of better 
live. Her husband started job of rickshaw pulling to 
maintain family with the little income. Majeda used 
to pass her days by just caring the children and other 
household activities.  The economic condition of the 
family did not improve. Poverty was all around that was 
unbearable. This made Majeda to think desperately for 
doing something by her-self. With due agreement of 
her husband, Majeda returned to their native village 
Tatera with whole family. Started new live by cultivating 
the small land they had. Majeda was submerged in 
deep thought about the education of the children. The 
earlier thought of doing something by her-self started 
to put thrust in her mind continuously.

While talking, Majeda said, ‘You know, I saw 10 years 
back that the neighbors are cultivating vegetables 
here during winter season and earning money. This 
inspired me and accordingly I started the process, she 
disclosed.
With smile she further told, “I met Afia Banu, the 
Secretary of Tatera Bazar Working Women Society, 
leaving nearby my house who arranged a meeting 
with Mr. Monir Hossain, Manager of the micro-finance 
organization DISA at the area’’.
Majeda narrated, ‘The manager was very cordial to 
brief me on micro-finance and finally told me to join 
the society, start saving and in the way arrangement 
for vegetable cultivation will be done’.
Majeda started her endeavor initially with her 
own saving of Tk.5000.00 along with DISA’s loan of 
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Tk.10000.00 with small land. After repayment of the 
loan she had Tk.8000.00 balance. Majeda was happy 
to opine,’ Satisfaction of own income is very much 
enjoying’.  Afterwards Majeda continued vegetable 
cultivation every year on greater perspective. All 
the major expenditures like maintaining family, 
progressing education of the children etc. were 
supported from the profit of this venture.  They started 
expanding activities through purchasing fallow land 
of others cultivating different types of vegetables. 
‘All the daughters are married now, having TV, CD 
players and other amenities in house By the grace 
of almighty lord, we are very fine now’, Majeda is 
astonished by the success she achieved and her face 
was beaming with the light of happiness for dreams 
coming true. Her monthly income is now around Tk. 
30,000.00. She had plans for cultivating corn, buying a 
CNG auto-rickshaw; support the sons to send abroad 
whenever possible.
A simple venture for tomato cultivation can be of 
enormous potentiality to change the economic 
condition of life, women like Majeda who never 
withdraw de accept the loss in battle, have proved 
that.  Through the stairs of dreams Majeda has made 
her family self-reliant. She owns 160 decimal of land, 
It is true that when all the members of a family joins 
together to achieve a goal of winning over on poverty, 
it can be done, Majeda is a living example to us all.

Success Story-9: Surpassing all obstacles: 
Story of a Monirul

Monirul is a name of a young person who goes forward 
in life overruling his physical disability. The biggest 
mobile servicing shop at Chandina Bazar in Comilla 
belongs to him. He is the eldest son of a teacher of 
Shishupur High School in the locality. Monirul was 
always worried (thinking) about his future career as he 
was not fit for doing any kinds of physical work. But 
he was confident to perform any job which could be 
done by sitting through his mental intellect. To prepare 
himself in the tune, he got (admission) admitted in 
the Youth Development Training Center, Comilla, 
undertaking mobile servicing course. 
While the course was completed Monirul started 
working in a shop of the Bahar Market situated in 
Comilla city, with a view to learn further the mobile 
servicing activities practically. The process was going 
fine and after one year, discussing with his father he 
started (took) a shop of his own in February, 2013 
at Chandina Bazar. By pawning a land of 10 decimal 

(satak), about 8 lakh taka was invested to launch this 
shop. (Mild) Soft natured and amiable Monirul gained 
reputation very quickly as a skilled mobile mechanic in 
the vicinity. Every day he opens his shop at early hours 
and works till night. 

Monirul was academically HSC passed having four 
members in the family. With the shop, he passes 
his days with the small family quite happily. “At the 
beginning besides my savings, I had to take loan from 
(MFI) DISA. I did not go to banks since they requires 
various papers for processing (taking) loan and it 
takes much of the time, Whereas DISA allocates loan 
comparatively in lesser time. Moreover, for repaying 
the installment money, we don’t need to go anywhere. 
They collect it from (coming at) our place (home).” Told 
Monirul about his beginning move.

Presently, Monirul has a savings of 32,522 taka in 
DISA and so far has taken loan for 3 times totaling Tk. 
3,00,000. “Now my monthly income is 60 thousand taka 
and I am satisfied”, he opined adding, “I am planning 
to have (taking) a dealership from any renowned & 
branded mobile company.” Monirul has savings in 
banks also in addition to DISA. (The Islami and Agrani 
Bank). “Incapability of physical hard-working, cannot 
refrain a person to reach goal of (near) success if he 
or she has the determination, self-effort and will force.” 
explained Monirul about the key measures behind his 
success.

Monirul has become a source of inspiration to other 
physically disable young generation. He wants to go 
further by his own talent and sincere works. 

In the context, the local manager of DISA said, “We are 
proud to support Monirul in right time, He is a dazzling 
example of what we are being able to maintain in 
the process of providing services to the people in 
accordance with (to) the target.
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Success Story-10: Eye-pleasing 
Showpieces of Sanwara at Sonargaon

Sonargaon, famous for the ancient Panam city and 
Folk Art Museum is just only 36 kilometer away from 
Dhaka. Tourists from home and abroad always list 
the place at their plan and accordingly they visit too. 
They feel happy to observe the legacy of renowned 
Jamindar Eshan Khan. In front of the museum lots of 
small craft stalls can be seen. Sanwara Begum (36) is 
one of those who are engaged in crafted show-pieces 
there. We were looking for her.
Mother of five children, she resides in Ichapara of 
Sonargaon Pourashava. Her husband Billal is a mason 
by profession. Two daughters of Sanwara are studying 
in Class X and only son is in Class VII in a local school. 
About 12 years ago, she learnt making glass and plastic 
made showpieces from her neighbors. Afterwards, she 
started her own craft business with the assistance of 
other family members. Sanowara has a small road-side 
craft item selling store in front of the Folk Art museum 
gate. While talking to us she said, “Besides the local 
products, the tourists sometimes demand for foreign 
products like: dolls, crystals, toy-cars, etc”. 
“To meet up their requirements, we wanted to equip 
our store with China and other foreign made products, 
for which more investment was needed.” Sanwara was 
describing the initial status of her business. She told, 
“The economic condition of our family was also not 
so well at that time to invest more on the business”. 
Considering this situation, one day Sanwara joined the 
local Ichapara Working Women group of the MFI-DISA. 
She was determined to expand her business as such 
arranged loan from the organization.

“Before starting my business, I was engaged in a 
net bag making industry and earned only fifteen 

hundred taka monthly. It was a tough situation for 
us to maintain this large family”. Sanwara said about 
her past life. “However”, she informed us, “Now I can 
earn 20-30 thousand taka per month. After repaying 
all loans installment and supporting family costs, I can 
also save money”. Sanwara now has 11 thousand taka 
savings and one lakh taka loans with DISA. 
Any tourists can find local handmade crafts item like: 
Glass showpieces, dolls, wooden crafts, plastic cars, 
miniature rickshaw, pen holders etc. are available 
at Sanwaras’s stall. She and her children make these 
products at their home.
Besides, the MFI account with DISA, Sanwara also has 
two more accounts, one with a Bank and the second 
with another financial institution. She saves money 
regularly in these accounts. 
When we asked about her future plan, she promptly 
replied, “Within next five years, I want to setup a 
permanent stall in the Market, and increase the 
handmade new products for the customers.” 
We could not continue our discussion with Sanwara 
because there was a rush of customers in front of her 
stall. She has to sale products to them now, so no time 
left there to talk. Sanwara wants to go far with her 
dreams establishing herself as an example to other 
rural women who wishes to work in parallel with the 
male for developing their own enterprises. DISA always 
feels pride to continue its support to the hardworking 
women like Sanwara.     

Success Story-11: Shahida’s spreads ideal 
strategy in Banana-cultivation

Shahida Begum (45) has a huge family with seven 
children. They are living in Fakirbari of Burichang, 
Comilla. Her husband Shamsul was the only earning 
member of the family and his source of income was 
renting out their only shallow machine.  Shahida 
was in deep hardship to run the family with the little 
income of her husband. Scarcities were all around. 
Instead of this difficult situation, she was very much 
determined so that their children receive education. 
To shun off the cries of want she started aiming at 
income increase by the family. The road was open for 
her efforts and finally she could make it for the family. 
Shahida is well off now.  Their daughters are married 
now living with their solvent husbands. Two of the 
sons are in Saudi Arab with jobs. Their family is now 
leading a happy time. But how she could accomplish 
all these, we asked them during interview. Shahida 
and her husband described the story by themselves.
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“These all are the return from our banana garden. 
You know, the garden that are you are watching was 
visited by the TV people and they made a program 
which was telecasted.  In fact we could do it through 
our dream, labour, supports for seeds and suggestions 
on method by right people.” Shahida told with much 
self-satisfaction.

Four years ago, Shahida and Samsul first cultivated 
banana at the back-yard of their house. Samsul 
received a training ten years back on banana 
cultivation based on updated scientific method from 
Agricultural Institute of Kishoreganj district. At the first 
phase, they started cultivation of banana in a small 
scale. Seeing due interest, agriculture officer of the 
area gave them standard seeds in free of cost and also 
awarded appropriate suggestions.  Eventually they 
got their result quickly. 
Later on, they started expanding banana cultivation 
area by taking land of others in lease. Starting with loan 
support of 40 thousand taka, they began cultivation in 
the large area. Now their banana business is running 
with the investment of about one lakh 20 thousand 
taka. Shahida also cultivates ginger beside the banana 
in the same land. Her monthly income is now about 
40 thousand taka. With the profit earned from banana 
cultivation, Shahida bought a shallow machine and has 
taken a pond in lease for launching fishery business. 
“I took the membership of the local Fakirbari working 
women group of (MFI) DISA, in 2012. Now I have saved 
35 thousand taka and the amount of loan is one lakh 
20 thousand taka there. 

“My younger boy has got the education scholarship 
of DISA. Officers of DISA used to help us in our critical 
time.” Shahida was earnestly happy to acknowledge 
DISA facilities.
Once they had no strong shade upon their house. 
Shahida had to cover the children into her arms to 
save them from the rain water in monsoon. She was 
sad while saying bare truth of the bad days their family 
had to come across.  Things are changed now. The 
family has won over on poverty. She has become a 
role model to the villagers who are proud of having 
her with them. 

Financial support for Cottage, Micro, Small & Medium 
Enterprises development through TMSS- MFI

Success Story-12: A tale of Khadija

MRS. KHADIJA BEGUM, a housewife of rural Bangladesh, 
lives fulbari village under Bogra district with her 
husband and children in a joint family. The earnings 
of her husband were below poverty line to maintain 
a rural life in Bangladesh. Poverty was their constant 
companion. Khadija always think of doing something 
for her family and had a dream of better life. At last 
she took loan from TMSS and leased 33 decimal lands 
where she cultivated seasonal vegetables. Interesting 
part of her cultivation was that she planted various 
types of vegetables seeds like potato, tomato, ladies 
finger and spinach in the same land. 

Later Khadija took training on various kind of income 
generating activities (IGA) like poultry, cow fattening, 
agriculture from TMSS vocational Center and started 
implementing her knowledge at her day to day life 
activities. Now illiterate khadija can read and write.  
She faced so many hardships to do her job. But she will 
force, dedication and support from TMSS micro credit 
showed her path of success. She learnt how to produce 
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organic vegetables and created huge demand in the 
locality. She owns a dairy firm. Now she is a successful 
entrepreneurs having capital investment of Tk.0.15 
million and 15 fulltime workers works under her. Every 
year she stored about 40MT potato for selling.  

Khadija is now a role model in her locality. Village 
women come to her to acquire knowledge on various 
agricultural activities and deal with different odds.  
She knows how to deal any kinds of social, financial 
obstacle. 
Khadija received award from local Agriculture 
Department and from various social organizations. Her 
children are now studying at University and school. 
Khadija did not forget her past life; she told that her 
past life is her strength of way of her present life. She 
shows her gratitude to Almighty and thanks to TMSS 
and UBICO for technical and financial support to her 
way of life.

Financial support for Cottage, Micro, Small & 
Medium Enterprises development through 
PADAKHEP- MFI

Success story-13: A firmly determined and 
self-sustained woman of Selina Marak 

(Microfinance program)

Selina Marak is a poor housewife of Seedstore Bazar of 
Bhaluka upazila of Mymensingh district. Selina along 
with her husband and two sons were in a vulnerable 
situation due to extreme poverty. Seeing no alternative 
way of income, she took training on tailoring and 
started tailoring business in her home in 1991 with 
only one sewing machine. However, this small income 
was not sufficient to meet the family expenses. It was 
however not possible to run the business properly 
since they did not have enough capital to buy new 
sewing machines. Selina and her husband Sadhin 
Sangma were continuously thinking of finding a way 
to increase income so that the family could survive. 
While passing the days in such a distressed condition, 
Selina came to know that Padakhep was providing 
credit support to the poor at their locality. Selina and 
her husband went to the Bhaluka branch office of 
Padakhep to know the details. They discussed their 
problems with the Community Manager and shown 
her interest to be a member of the samity. Padakhep 
visited Selina’s business to access her eligibility for 
membership in the samity.
Finally, in 2001 she became a member of the Silvia 
samity. She started attending the samity meeting 
regularly and deposited savings as per rules and 
regulations of Padakhep. After few months, she took a 

loan of Tk. 5,000 with the dream to expand her business. 
She started a showroom of her readymade garments in 
Seedstore Bazar. She purchased new sewing machines 
with accessories and employs some workers using the 
loan money. Based on her satisfactory performance 
over one year, Selina was disbursed a 2nd installment 
loan of Tk. 8.000. Since 2001 to till date Selina took loan 
of Tk. 625,000 sequentially in different phases. Now 
Selina is running a factory at her home with 15 sewing 
machines operated by 16 workers. Her husband 
always extended assistance to help run the business 
smoothly. As the production of readymade garments 
increased, she with her husband started looking for 
marketing their products. Finally luck favoured and 
her dream came true. Good quality of her readymade 
garments and its huge demand in the local market 
gradually made the business more profitable. Selina, 
by dint of her creativity and hard work is now a 
solvent woman and is encouraging her neighbors to 
follow her footstep to alleviate their poverty. Selina, 
once who started her business with only Tk. 14,000, 
has been able to enhance her capital to the tune of 
Tk.2,200,000. The value of the machineries and clothes 
are Tk.1,200,000 and Tk.1,000,000 respectively. Last 
year her net profit was Tk.600,000. She bought 10 
decimal land to expand her business. She also bought 
40 decimal cultivable lands as a source of permanent 
income and built a building with 8 rooms. Now her 
elder son is a bachelor student (1st year, Honours) and 
the younger in studying in class IV. She hopes for their 
bright future.

Selina is the shining example of a bright success. She 
has amply proved it is not that difficult to see the light 
of overcoming the dark hurdles if financial assistance 
is added to one’s factory, honesty and single-minded 
devotion and dedication to work. Selina and her 
husband gratefully acknowledged the assistance of 
Padakhep that finally made their livelihood secure 
and sustainable. Padakhep has played a great role in 
establishing a profitable enterprise for her family. They 
told that without the timely assistance of Padakhep, 
it would not have been possible for them to become 
a successful owner of a factory. Selina acknowledged, 
“Microcredit of Padakhep has taught me how to live 
with dignity.”
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HUMAN  RESOURCES

Section - D
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Overview

Our human resources management are the heart of 
our all activities. From the strategy as directed by the 
Board leadership, our people are responsible to deliver 
the plan and making UBICO a successful institution 
to achieve its vision. As we continue to transform our 
company vis-à-vis activities, we have worked hard to 
assure that we have the capabilities in place to drive the 
company forward. We have ensure that our employees 
are confident, engaged and knowledgeable. We 
continue to train our employees with appropriate 
training including digital development. 

Positive Team

It is very important that all our employees understand 
our priority and objectives of socio-economic 
development of Bangladesh and that they are 
engaged accordingly. This understanding helps us to 
maintain our ethics and confidence which in turn leads 
to success of our activities.

Building capabilities

As technology continues to change rapidly, we are 
gradually building our capabilities to ensure continuity 
of mission of our company. We provide regular training 
as required by the role of each employee. During 
the year 2016, we have allowed 35 training to our 
employees. 

Employee engagement

Despite a challenging engagement, we continuously 
engage our employees through our various formal 
and informal communications to ensure that our 
employees update themselves in carrying forward the 
objectives of the company.

Our Focus

UBICO encourage a harmonious relationship among its 

employees. We adopt necessary measures to develop 
and train our employees based on long term goal and 
mutual necessity. We are very alert to avoid any kind of 
discrimination based on religion, gender or caste.

Compensation and Rewards

Our company follows the market base compensation 
policy for all its employees and rewards the deserving 
employees accordingly.

Job satisfaction

Our company ensures a congenial working 
environment for which we have zero employee 
turnover. Moreover our employees are allowed to 
express constructive feedback/opinion for welfare of 
the company and individuals.

Communication

Our company encourages both formal and informal 
communication with substance. The company also 
welcome any positive suggestion/comment for greater 
benefit of all concern.

People strategy

• Create a positive management team to achieve 
vision of the company

• Develop backup skill for each employee

• Maintain transparency and fair dealing

• Ensure equal opportunity

• Extend training and development program to 
employees

• Maintain a harmonious working environment

Employee welfare activities

Our company extends welfare activities to the 
employee as below:

Human Resources Report
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• Housing As per human resource policy, we provide house building financial facilities 
to all employees having a minimum 10 years satisfactory service with the 
company.

• Transport Our company provides Car facilities as required by the agreement/
assignment. Provide car loan to mid and senior level officials.

• Provident fund Extend provident fund facilities to all employees @ 10% of basic equivalent 
to employees contribution.

• Gratuity Provides gratuity scheme for all employees as per HR policy.

• Medical expenses Provides Medical facilities as per Human Resources Policy.

• Maternity benefits Female employees are entitled for the facilities as per policy of the company.

• Annual events We allow our employees to hold annual dinner and other yearly events as 
necessary.

• Food Our company provides light refreshment to all employees as necessary.

• Assistance to family members Our company provides special assistance to the family members of 
employees as necessary.

• Insurance Our company provides group insurance facilities for all the employees.

• Hajj Scheme  Provides Hajj scheme for all employees as per HR policy.

• Training Provide various professional and management training as per need 
assessment for all employees.

Group Session with the Board Members
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Developing Skill through Training

Our employees have joint from diversified background. In order to attain our mission and vision, we have a policy 
of training and developing professional skill of our employees. In the year 2016, our employees have attended 35 
separate training sessions on the following topic organized by various organizations:

- The Role of the Policy Markers and Central Banks in Promoting SME’s Access to Finance-The case of Bangladesh

- Anti Money Laundering and Combating Terrorist Finance

- VAT & Income Tax

- Credit Operations in Banks & NBFIs from Sanction To Management of Risks & Recovery

- The Role of the Policy Markers and Central Banks in Promoting SME’s Access to Finance-The case of Bangladesh

- Investment in Energy Efficient Brick Manufacturing Projects

- Green Banking & Environmental Risk Management

- The Art of SME Finance and Risk Management

- Best Practices Indicators/Benchmarks for SME Financing Development

- Women Entrepreneur Development

Ensuring harmonious Working environment

For a better output, UBICO practice to ensure a healthy working environment for its employees. Healthy working 
environment include maintaining a harmonious relationship amongst employees, adjusting individual work 
priorities, keeping in balance with personal crisis, providing sustainable safety measures like – group insurance 
policies, family members medical support, vaccination program, educational leave, families holidays etc. UBICO 
truly believes that employees are the driving force to achieve its mission and vision and accords done priorities 
accordingly.

Safety Training

To ensure safety to the working place, we have provided fire fighting training by competent authorities to all our 
staff members.



Responsibilities towards Employees

Established through a bilateral agreement between 
the two governments, UBICO maintains a “Equal 
opportunity employer” policy. Our company is 
committed to maintain a harmonious working 
environment for employees. We have no discrimination 
in dealing with our employees based on religion, cast 
or color. Our company believes is sustainable growth 
based on professional quality. All our policy guidelines 
are properly structured through our corporate 
governance policy as duly approved by the board. 

•  Our company deals with employees with due 
respect and encourage a family spirit to maintain.

•  Our company extends / allows our employees 
to attend professional trainings / seminars as 
and when available. In 2015 our employees have 
attended over 42 trainings / seminars.

•  Our employees attend all annual events of the 
company.

•  The Board members also meet employees on 
regular interval and exchange ideas.

Celebrating Employee Birthday

Celebrating 30 years Anniversary

Employees Report
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Celebrating 30 years Anniversary

Board Members are Exchanging Views 

with Member of Staff

Celebrating Employee’s Achievement of 

Guinness World Record as Cyclist
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Chairman & Board Members Celebrate

Integrity Strategy Workshop Session

Welcoming Employees after 

performance of Hajj
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Organizational Structure

Organogram
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Our Team
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Employees Achievement
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Section - E
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Risk management is a matter of regular concern 
for any financial institution. Importance of risk 
management cannot be undermine at any level and 
at any time. Installing a proper risk management 
system can ensure a positive outcome of any 
organization. Risk Management system presents a 
transparent and systematic approach to identify and 
tackle any risk that comes up in the regular business/
investment activities.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
In UBICO, risk factors are managed under guidelines, 
policy and instructions as approved by the Board of 
Directors. Our risk management objectives are (a) to 
follow a conservative approach in identifying the risk, 

(b) to strengthen the system through proper guideline 
as per Central bank and other regulatory authorities, 
(c) to ensure/develop proper infrastructure (d) 
to pursue liable investment opportunities (e) to 
safeguard resource/assets of the organization.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
UBICO maintain its risk management structure under 
the direct leadership of its Board of Directors. The 
Board approves amends or charges its policies and 
strategy of risk management. Management follows 
the guideline and instructions to implement the 
same. All management committees are responsible 
for practicing risk management policies and 
guideline.

Risk Management Report
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REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT 

Our management team is full alert to maintain all 
required regulatory and compliance issues. We 
also maintain close relationship with all regulatory 
bodies and follow-up necessary rules, regulations 
and guidelines as issued by various authorities. We 
have a transparent Internal Control and Compliance 
Framework (ICCF) policy and guidelines duly 
approved by the board. Our management team and 
respective department take necessary measures to 
implement the same.
REPUTATIONAL RISK
Being a joint venture financial institution, our 
board and management maintain high alert to 
preserve the reputation of the company vis-à-vis its 
shareholders. Our company prudently avoids any 

kind of controversies and prioritises our activities to 
fulfill Vision and Mission of the company.

PERSONNEL RISK
Our board encourages due measures that appreciates 
employees for their dedication and contribution for 
the company. Our company adopted due policies 
to provide necessary trainings for our employees 
to promote their skills. Time to time our board also 
request for advises from HR consultants to upgrade 
or improve various benefits/remuneration packages 
for our employees to maintain uniformity of the 
industry practice.      

RISK FACTORS

CREDIT RISK
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Figure 1 : Risk Management Structure
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As approved by the Board and in line with the 

Central Bank guideline, our company is always alert 

in managing our credit risk exposure. We mainly 

focus on our vision to participate in socio-economic 

development of the country. Within our limitation 

collaborating with other institutions, NGOs and 

counterpart jointly and severally we invest with 

various ventures/scheme/projects. We continuously 

monitor and implement appropriate due diligence 

process. In this regard we maintain a transparent 

and well defined policy and procedures to follow. 

Investment/credit proposals are prepared in line 

with the guideline and presented to the board for 

necessary decision/approval. Board holds absolute 

authority over any decision. However, Board 

periodically reviews and approves any amendment 

of related policies. Management team carryout 

day to day monitoring, following and reporting 

functions. We have a proper credit/investment 

evaluation process as below:

Meeting with the  client

Credit O�cer –Investment Department

Submission of complete documentation by the client

Credit O�cer –Investment Department

Obtaining for legal opinion

Legal Department

Credit Analysis

Credit Risk Management Unit (CRMU)

Figure 2.  Submission and processing of the loan application 

Visiting the client –drawing up the Visit Report
based on a visit  to the client

Credit Team

START

1

2

3

4

5

A
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Submission of information required for preparation of
the credit decision proposal

Credit O	cer-Investment Department

Checking the information necessary for preparation of 
the credit decision proposal

Credit O	cer-Investment Department

Modi�cation of the information necessary for preparation of 
the credit decision proposal

Credit O	cer-Investment Department

Presenting the credit decision proposal to the competent board
Credit O	cer-Investment Department

Making decision

Board of Directors

Is the analysis of the
loan application
adequate?

          Approval to the credit decision proposal

Credit Risk Management Unit (CRMU)

A

6

7

8

9

10

11

No Yes

No Yes

Is approved?

B

Figure 3.  Loan Application Analysis & Approval
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Preparation of the agreement and 
related documentation

Credit O�cer-Investment Department

Legal Department presents a modi�ed Loan
Agreement and other prepared documentation

Legal Adviser

Signing and veri�cation of the Agreement and required
documentation /  a copy of the Agreement is presented to the client

Client

Is the submitted
documentation
complete?

    Back O�ce checks the documentation 

Credit Administration 

Request for Disbursement

Client

B

12

13

14

Preparation of Disbursement memo and approval of competent
authority for issuance of cheque

 Investment and Treasury Department

17

          Hand over the cheque 

Client

18

15

16

No Yes

Recovery
&

Monitoring

Figure 4: Documentation and Disbursement
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Our Risk Management Environment

The Bangladesh Bank, (Central Bank of Bangladesh) 
supervises and monitors risk activities of all financial 
institutions in Bangladesh. Central Bank issues 
guidelines/directives from time to time in this 
regard. Under Central Bank guideline to core risk 
management areas/activities, we have set up the 
following units to address related risk: 

-  Internal Control & Compliance (ICC)

- Assets  Liability Management (ALM)

- Information Communication Technology (ICT)

- Anti Money Laundering (AML)

As per guideline, UBICO regularly provide a report 
under “Risk Management Forum” to the Central Bank 
which cover the following areas: 

- Number of investment proposal under due 
diligence process

- Status of Credit Portfolio 

- Status of Existing Client 

- Recovery Action Plan

- Treasury Management

- ICT Management

- Business/Investment Policy

- Market Risk

- Stress Testing

A brief overview of our Risk Management Paper 
(RMP) is presented below:-

- Portfolio Trend- Steady

- Sector wise Investment- Diversify

- NPL – NIL

- Liquidity Risk – Satisfactory 

- Statutory Reserve- Satisfactory

- CRR – Satisfactory

- Operational Risk – Satisfactory

- Reputational Risk- Satisfactory

- Capital Management Function -  Satisfactory

- Stress Testing Report – Satisfactory         

Under Stress Testing report, Central Bank monitors 
the following areas :

- Interest Risk

- Credit Risk : NPL movement Investment trend, 
concentration of loans.

- Equity Risk/Market Risk

- Liquidity Risk-Fund Management Trend (short/
Long term)

So far UBICO maintained a Green Zone Category 
which is a prudent risk management trend.

UBICO monitors different risk factor under Central 
Bank guideline as below: 

Balance Sheet Risk

Balance sheet risk can be categorized into two major 
types of significant risks- liquidity risk and interest 
rate risk. Changes in market liquidity and/or interest 
rates expose FIs/ business to the risk of loss, which 
may, in extreme cases, threaten the survival of 
institution.

Liquidity Risk

The risk that FI or business will be unable to meet it’s 
commitment as they fall due leading to bankruptcy 
or rise in funding cost. FIs traditionally use the 
statutory liquidity reserve and their borrowing 
capacity in the volatile inter-FI money market as the 
source of liquidity.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the exposure of a FI’s financial 
condition to adverse movements in interest rates. 
Accepting this risk is a normal part of financial 
activities and can be an important source of 
profitability and shareholder value. However, 
excessive interest rate risk can pose a significant 
threat to a FI’s earnings and capital base. Changes 
in interest rates affect a FI’s earnings by changing its 
net interest income and the level of other interest-
sensitive income and operating expenses. Changes 
in interest rates also affect the underlying value 
of the FI’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet 
instruments because the present value of future cash 
flows (and in some cases, the cash flows themselves) 
change when interest rates change. Accordingly, an 
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effective risk management process that maintains 
interest rate risk within prudent levels is essential to 
the safety and soundness of FIs.

Capital Adequacy

The need to adopt the best international practices 
given in the pretext of globalization of economies 
and businesses is a must as you are aware of “Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision” and the 
emphasis on maintaining the Capital Adequacy 
commensurate to exposure or risk on balance sheet. 
The new “Basel Capital Accord” stipulates that “FIs 
must hold capital commensurate with the level of 
interest rate risk they undertake”.

Composition of Credit Risk

1)  Relationship Management/Marketing 

2)  Credit Risk Management-CRM

3)  Credit Administration

4)   Internal Audit/Control

ICT Risk

ICT risk arises from incidents like a minor 
interruptions of service, (i.e. network is down for 10 
minutes) or even from a major disaster like losing a 
IT infrastructure (i.e. collapse of a server). 

Compliance Risk 

Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal 
sanctions, material financial loss, or loss to reputation 
the Bank may suffer as a result of its failure to comply 
with laws, its own regulations, code of conduct, and 
standards of best/good practice.
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Investment Continuity Report

Beyond regulatory obligation, this report 
indicatesabout the pro-active investment decision 
by theboard of the company. The Board of Directors 
of UBICO has full confidence on the internal 
allocationof its resources for any viable projects 
in the privatesector of Bangladesh. The vision of 
the companyis to participate in socio-economic 
developmentof Bangladesh. The Board of Directors 
has made itsassessment about the availability of its 
resources andexpressed its positive desire to continue 
its activities within its agreed internal structure. The 
Board is alsowilling to review its future strategy to take 
forward itsmission in a pro-active manner. The Board 
is pleased to present the following factors which 
may be identified as satisfactory indicatorsabout 
continuity of its investment activities.

FINANCIAL FACTORS

Deploying its own capital: 

As per charter signed between the two Governments, 
UBICO uses its own capital to invest in Bangladesh. 
UBICO does not borrow any fund or takes any private 
deposit in Bangladesh. As a result, the company has 
only a very negligible 8.22 percent liability. 

Financial Support from Sponsors 

The company has full assurance from its shareholders 
to provide necessary funding as per Charter 
Agreement. 

Reinvesting its Profit

Our company has invested 75% - 80% of its profit 
achieved into the activities of the company.

Operating Cash Flow

Statement of liquidity and cash flow statement show 
no liquidity gap demonstrating its strong ability to 
meet any future urgency.

Positive Financial Ratios

UBICO maintains positive financial ratios which 
represent its strong support from its shareholders. 

Payment of Dividends

UBICO has been paying its dividend regularly. For last 
few years the company paid 20% - 25% of dividend 
for each year.

Performance Growth

The investment of the company has growth by 
40.38% over the previous year.

OPERATING FACTORS

Investment Activities

UBICO has diversified product portfolio as per 
guideline of the Central Bank. The Board has accorded 
its approval of various investment proposals by 
40.38% growth over the previous year.

Harmonious Culture

UBICO maintains a good working environment 
encouraging continuous professional development 
and ideal working relationship of its employees. The 
company facilitates professional excellence for its 
corporate environment.

OTHER FACTORS

Satisfactory Capital

As per Central Bank requirement, the company 
is maintaining satisfactory capital provision. 

CAMELS Rating

CAMELS rating is a tool used by the Central Bank for 
evaluating the health of Financial Institution. So far 
UBICO has received no adverse material observation.

Stress Testing

Central Bank has formulated a stress testing 
framework for Financial Institutions to ascertain its 
riskbearing capacity. As on 31st December 2016 
UBICO scored excellent result.
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GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Section - F
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SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

EXTERNAL AUDITORAUDIT COMMITTEE

MANAGING DIRECTOR

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ASSTE/ LIABILITY
COMMITTEE

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

INTERNAL CONTROL
& COMPLIANCE UNIT

ICT COMMITTEE RISK MANAGEMENT FORUM CENTRAL COMPLIANCE UNIT

GREEN BANKING UNIT

INTERNAL AUDITOR

INTEGRITY COMMITTEE

Corporate Governance Fundamentals
Being a joint venture company between two 
governments, UBICO emphasis to maintain 
its Corporate Governance practice based on 
transparency, integrity and complaint to the local laws 
and regulations.

Shareholders
Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADFD) an 
integral part of the UAE Government holds 60% 
share and Government of Bangladesh hold 40% 
share of the company. The shareholder nominated 
their representative based on proportion of shares. 

At present out of total five Directors seat, ADFD 
has nominated 3 and Bangladesh Government has 
nominated 2 directors to the board.

Corporate Structure
Success of a corporate body depends on a well-
coordinated leadership of the board and its governance 
practices. UBICO operate under a specific governance 
pattern as per diagram as stated below:

Board Meeting
The company as required by law holds 4 board meeting 
in a calendar year.

Governance Report
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Annual General Meeting
The 29th Annual General Meeting of the company 
was held on May 04, 2017 at Westin Hotel, Dhaka.
The AGM of the Company were unanimously 
resolved:
a)  Adopted of audited Financial Statements of the 

company for the year ended 31st December 2016 
and also receives and considers the Auditors’ and 
directors report.

b)  Declared 25% cash dividend.
c) Appointed auditor for 2017 and fix their 

remuneration.

Website
The company provides its basic information through 
its website which is regularly updated.

Annual Report
The company provides its Audited Financial 
Statements, Directors Report, Notice of AGM and 
other important information to circulate among its 
various stakeholders.

Board Composition

At present UBICO board is composed with the following:

1.  Mr. Faisal Al Suwaidi Chairman Nominated by ADFD, UAE Govt.
2.  Mr. Md. Eunusur Rahman Deputy Chairman Nominated by Bangladesh Govt.

3.  Mr. Zayed Ahmed Daiban Director Nominated by ADFD, UAE Govt.

4.  Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh Director Nominated by ADFD, UAE Govt.
5.  Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat Director Nominated by Bangladesh Govt.

Audit Committee
As per guideline of the Central bank, the role of 
Audit Committee is very important to maintain 
sustainability of Corporate Governance. The Audit 
Committee performs a very important role as below:
• Maintaining the integrity of company’s Financial 

Statements.
• Monitoring compliance obligation of the 

company.
• To engage external auditor as per central bank 

guideline.
• Ensuring reporting of Financial Statements to 

the shareholders.
• Monitoring proper accounting policies, 

Implementation of internal control and risk 
management system.

• Monitoring internal and external audit report 
and follow up of compliance program.

The Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Board and reports directly to the board. Our Audit 
Committee is comprises the following member of 
the board representing from the shareholders:

- Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh Chairman
- Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat, Member
Being part of the board, the Audit Committee 
attends the regular board meeting to review the 
audit findings.

Audit Program
Under normal provision, the following audit program 
takes place on yearly basis:
1. External audit by Statutory Auditor
2. Central Bank Comprehensive Audit
3. Central   Bank   Core   Risk   Management   (CRM) 

Audit
4. ISO Surveillance Audit by BSTI 
5. ADFD Audit

The actual audit and its follow up activities continue 
round the year.
Dividend Disbursement
Dividend as recommended by the Board and 
approved in the Annual General Meeting are 
disbursed directly to the shareholder as per advice.

Disclosure Duties
The Financial Statements are communicated to the 
respective regulators and publish the same in two 
different daily (in English and Bengali) national 
newspapers. Audited Financial Statements, Directors 
Report, AGM notice are distributed to the respective 
shareholders.

Regular Reporting
In UBICO we provide regular reporting of status to 
the ADFD on our total activities. We also provide 
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various information and report as and when required 
by ADFD. Besides we report to other local regulators 
and stakeholders as below:
1. Central Bank: Monthly Report, Quarterly Report, 

Half Yearly Report, Yearly Report and any other 
report as and when required.

2. Ministry of Finance: Any report as and when 
required.

3. Tax Authorities: Monthly Report, Quarterly 
Report, Yearly Tax Return and any other report as 
and when required.

Selection of Directors
The shareholders nominates their suitable officials 
represent their in the board.
Directors Remuneration
As   per   central   Bank   regulation, 
the Board member are entitled to 
receive a maximum of Tk. 8,000/= 
per meeting.

Management
As authorized by the Board, the 
management team headed by the 
Managing Director is responsible 
for day to day management of the 
company.

Management Committee
As per Central Bank guideline, 
several committees have been 

formed to conduct and monitor 
affairs of the company, to report 
to the board and other regulatory 
bodies as bellow:
- Risk Management Forum
- Asset / liability Committee
- ICT Committee
- Internal Control and 

Compliance Unit
- Central Compliance Unit
- Corporate Governance 

Committee
- Integrity / Ethical Compliance 

Committee
 Each   Committee   have   

their   separate   role   and 
responsibilities.

RISK Management
As per Central Bank guideline, we gave adopted the 
following risk management policies:
- Credit Risk Policy
- Anti-Money laundering & Combating Terrorist 

Financing Policy
- ICT Risk Policy
- Asset-liability Management Policy
- Internal Control and Compliance Policy

As per policy guideline, we have set up separate 
committee for each area, who periodically meet and 
review the risk and plan to mitigate the same.

Board Meeting in Progress

Annual General Meeting in Progress
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Internal Control
As per Central Bank guideline, UBICO has set up a 
comprehensive internal control system. The main 
objectives of the system are to 
manage the existing risk, evaluate 
and report to the board and 
concerned regulatory authorities. 
Main controlling mechanisms are:

- Regular Board meeting with 
specific agenda and reporting

- Regular Management 
Committee and sub-committee 
meeting with specific agendas 
and action plan

- Established corporate structure 
with specific responsibility

- Specific guideline for all area of 
activities

- Annual budgetary system with 
monthly reporting

- Operation Manual for all activities

- Treasury Management and cash flow reporting

- Proper Human Resource Policy

- Extensive reporting system

Statutory Auditor
The shareholders as recommended by the Board of 
Directors approve appointment of statutory auditor 
and fix their remuneration. As per Central Bank 

regulation, we have forward the 
proposal of nominated auditor to 
the Central Bank for final approval. 
As per regulatory provision, no 
external auditor can be appointed 
for more than three consecutive 
years. 
In our 28th Annual General Meeting 
held on March 30, 2016 M/S 
ACNABIN Chartered Accountants 
appointed as the statutory auditor 
of the company for the year 2016 
and we have obtained central bank 
final approval accordingly.
Accounting Practices
UBICO follows the Companies 

Act 1994, Bangladesh Accounting 
Standard as adopted by the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB).

Budget

We have long practice to propose and adopt yearly 
budget duly approved by the Board. The budget is 
regularly monitored and reviewed.

Anti-Money Laundering
UBICO is fully compliant with the rules and regulation 
of anti-money laundering and combating financing 
of terrorism (AML/CFT) practices as required. Our 
company does not accept any local funding, deposit 

Directors Exchanging Views

Board Meeting in Progress



from private individuals or borrow any fund. We have 
no risk in this area.

Human Resources Management & 
Compensation
UBICO accord importance in 
managing its human resources. 
Time to time, the company 
employs external human resources 
consultant to review its HR practices 
and compensation packages. The 
company prefers to compensate 
performing employees in a fair 
manner. The company also prefers 
to maintain a non-discriminatory HR 
policy irrespective of religion, cast or 
gender.

Work Environment
The company provides suitable 
office equipments and working 
conditions for its employees. UBICO 
also continues creating awareness 
amongst its employees for energy 
saving effort, less use of powers and 
clean environment.

ISO Survellience Audit Session

Celebrating 100 Crore Investment Milestone

Unveiling the new Logo
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Welcoming the New Director

Celebrating 30 years Anniversary

Hono’ble Finance Minister of 
Bangladesh in pleasent moment 

about Bilateral Relationship with UAE
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The Shareholders of UBICO nominates its officials to represent in the Board of the company. The Board provides 
leadership in policy formation, monitor development of the company and guide the management for long term 
sustainability of the company.

At present UBICO board comprises of five members (three represents ADFD and two from the Government of 
Bangladesh) based on proportion of Shareholdings.

1. Mr. Faisal Al Suwaidi Chairman Nominated by ADFD, UAE Govt.

2. Mr. Md. Eunusur Rahman Deputy Chairman Nominated by Bangladesh Govt.

3. Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat Director Do

4. Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh Director Nominated by ADFD, UAE Govt.

5. Mr. Zayed Ahmed Daiban Director Do

Chairman of the Board

Mr. Faisal Al Suwaidi has been nominated by the Abu Dhabi Fund for Development as the Chairman of the Board. 
The Chairman is main liaison between the board, management and responsible for functioning of the board.

Tenure of the Board member

The shareholder decides about the retirement and replacement of Board members.

Directors Remuneration

As per Central Bank regulation, Directors are entitled for Tk. 8,000/= as fees for attending each meeting.

Board Committee

As per Central Bank regulation, the board has formed the Audit Committee to perform designated role with the 
following members:

Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh –   Chairman

Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat –   Member

Directors Responsibility

The Shareholders nominate the Directors to run the affairs of the company. The Directors are accountable to the 
Shareholders. In the Annual General Meeting, Directors present a report on the performance of the company 
for the Shareholders. Directors are responsible for developing and monitoring Governance Polices, Investment 
Policies, HR Policy etc. 

Board Structure
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Purpose

The Audit Committee makes recommendations on 
the reporting, control and compliance aspects of 
the directors’ and the Company’s responsibilities, 
providing independent monitoring, guidance and 
challenge to executive management in these areas. 
Its aim to ensure that high standards of corporate 
reporting, control and compliance are achieved, in 
the belief that excellence in these areas enhances the 
effectiveness, and reduces the risk of the business.

Composition of the Committee:

During the year 2016, the Audit Committee comprised 
of the following Directors of the Board: 
1. Mr. Mohammed Farooque Shaikh
 Director of the company representing Chairman
 Abu Dhabi Fund For Development 
 
2. Mrs. Mushfeka Ikfat
 Director of the company representing 
 the Government of the People’s  Member
 Republic of Bangladesh 
  

All the members of the Audit Committee are non-
executive Directors. The Committee is responsible 
and reports to the Board of Directors. The Managing 
Director and the Company Secretary attended the 
committee meeting by invitation. 

Summary of Terms of reference:

The responsibility of the audit committee will be as 
follows:

i To oversee and recommend to establish an 
effective internal control system

ii To ensure the Corporate Governance of the 
Company

iii To submit annual report to the Board

Activities

The Committee focused on the following activities 
during the year:

- Review the appointment of statutory/
external auditors

- Annual audit and internal control review 
planning

- Review the following statements:

Audit Committee Report
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- Quarterly Financial Statements 

- Quarterly Operational Status Report 

- Monthly expenditure budget

- Monthly Fund Position

- The effectiveness of financial controls

- Monitoring the progress of Internal Audit

- The relationship with auditors and their 
independence; and 

Financial Reporting

The committee reviewed the effectiveness of financial 
reporting system in place to ensure that the information 
provided to the stakeholders is reliable and in strict 
adherence and compliance to the requirements of 
the International Accounting Standards as adopted by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh 
and disclosure requirements. The annual and interim 
Financial Statements prepared for disclosure, were 
reviewed by the Committee prior to submission to 
the Board for approval. Having assessed the internal 
financial controls, the Committee is of the view that 
adequate controls and procedures are in place to 
provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s 
assets are safeguarded and that the financial position 
of the Institute is well monitored.

Regulatory Compliance

The Company’s procedures in place to ensure 
compliance with the instructions of Central Bank of 
Bangladesh and statutory requirements were under 
close scrutiny. The Committee monitors the due 
compliance with all requirements through monthly 
and quarterly reporting submitted by the management 
and internal audit from time to time. 

Managing Risks

The Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the 
procedures established for identifying, assessing and 
managing risks. The Credit Risk Management was 
invited to make presentation on Risk Management 
measures adopted in their areas of responsibility. Risk 
rating guidelines with an appropriate Risk Grading 
Matrix has been formulated for identifying and 
assessing the operational risks. UBICO’s adherence to 
Risk Management measures approved by the Board is 
reviewed annually.

Control Process & reporting system

The Committee monitored the control process and 
reporting system and has dedicated meeting time to 
understanding issues, assess progress and report on 
these to the Board of Directors. 

(Meeting in Progress)
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Integrity

The Committee has examined in details with the 
finance department and the auditors for ensuring the 
true and fair view of Annual Financial Statements.

Internal Audit

The internal audit has been carried out in regular 
interval. The internal auditors’ reports were reviewed 
annually to observe operational deficiencies and 
follow up the recommendations. 

External/Statutory Audit

M/S ACNABIN, Chartered Accountants was appointed 
auditor of UBICO at the 28th Annual General Meeting 
held on March 30, 2016. The auditors have conducted 
their audit on the financial statements for the year 
2016 and given their unqualified report thereon. 

ISO Surveillance Audit 

BSTI (Bangladesh Standards & Testing Institution) 
conducted surveillance audit to evaluate the 
implementation and effectiveness of the quality system 
under Management Systems Certification awarded by 
them. They have provided a list of observations and we 
have noted the same for compliance.

Bangladesh Bank Inspection

Central Bank has conducted 2 (two) inspection during 
the year 2016 and provided their observations. 
We have noted the observation and approved the 
response of the compliance report in respect of the 
recommendations made by the inspection team. 

Monitoring by Ministry of Finance, Government of 
Bangladesh

Ministry of Finance time to time reviews our activities 
as part of their surveillance accountability. Accordingly 

we submit various reports to the Ministry as and 
required. 

Approval of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee reviewed and examined the 
draft audited financial statements of UBICO for the 
year 2015 and recommended to the Board for approval 
of the same. 

 

Good Governance

Highest standards in Corporate Good Governance and 
strict adherence to the requirements of UBICO’s internal 
regulations are ensured throughout the company. 
Through implementation of good governance at all 
levels of staff have been educated and encouraged to 
comply with the rules and regulations very strictly. The 
Committee also ensures that appropriate procedures 
are in place to ensure corporate good governance. In 
this regard the committee has observed the activities of 
the following management committees constituted as 
per requirement of the Central Bank with concurrence 
of the Board:

- Executive Management Committee

- Credit Risk Management Committee

- Internal Control & Compliance Committee

- Asset Liability Management Committee

- Integrity Committee

- Anti Money Laundering Committee

- SME Finance Committee

- ICT Management Committee

Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee would like to express its thanks 
to the members of the Board, Key Management 
personnel and all employees for their dedication and 
efforts extended during the year 2016.

 

 Mushfeka Ikfat  Mohammed Farooque Shaikh
 Member Chairman
 Audit Committee Audit Committee
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Auditor’s Report
To The Shareholder of The UAE-Bangladesh 
Investment Company Limited

We have audited the financial statements of The UAE-
Bangladesh Investment Company Limited which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, 
profit and loss account, statement of changes in 
equity, cash flow statement for the year then ended 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements of the Company that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with Bangladesh 
Financial Reporting Standards (BFRS), the Financial 
Institutions Act 1993, the rules and regulations issued 
by Bangladesh Bank, the Securities and Exchange rules 
1987, the Companies Act 1994 and other applicable 
laws and regulations and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements of the Company based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Bangladesh Standards on Auditing (BSA). Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements of the Company are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements of the Company. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the Company, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the 
financial statements of the Company that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements of 
the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Company 
give a true and fair view of  the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2016, and of the financial 
performance and cash flows of the Company for the 
year then ended in accordance with Bangladesh 
Financial Reporting Standards (BFRS) and comply with 
the applicable sections of the Financial Institutions Act 
1993, the rules and regulations issued by Bangladesh 
Bank, the Companies Act 1994, the Securities and 
Exchange Rules 1987 and other applicable laws and 
regulations.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

We also report that:

a) We have obtained all the information and 
explanation which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of 
our audit and made due verification thereof 
and found satisfactory;

b) in our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law have been kept by the Company 
so far as it appeared from our examination of 
those books;

c) the balance sheet and profit and loss statement 
of the Company together with annexed notes 
from 1 to 21 dealt with by the report are in 
agreement with the books of account;

d) the expenditure incurred was for the purpose 
of the Company’s business;

e) the financial statements of the Company have 
been drawn up in conformity with the Financial 
Institution Act 1993 and in accordance with 
the accounting rules and regulations issued by 



Bangladesh Bank to the extent applicable to 
the Company;

f ) adequate provisions have been made for leases 
and advances and other assets which are, in our 
opinion, doubtful of recovery and Bangladesh 
Bank’s instructions in this regard have been 
followed properly;

g) statements sent to Bangladesh Bank have been 
checked on sample basis and no inaccuracy has 
come to our attention;

h) taxes and other duties collected and deposited 
to Government treasury by the Company as per 
Government instructions found satisfactory;

i) nothing has come to our attention that the 
Company has adopted any unethical means 
i.e. ‘window dressing’ to inflate the profit and 
mismatch between the maturity of assets and 
liabilities;

j) proper measures have been taken to eliminate 
the irregularities mentioned in the inspection 
report of Bangladesh Bank and the instructions 
issued by Bangladesh Bank and other regulatory 
authorities have been complied properly;

k) the internal control and the compliance of the 
Company is satisfactory, and effective measures 
have been taken to prevent possible fraud, 
forgery and internal policies are being followed 
appropriately;

l) the Company has complied with relevant 
laws pertaining to capital, reserve and net 
worth, cash and liquid assets and procedure 
for sanctioning and disbursing loans found 
satisfactory;

m) the financial statements of the Company 
conform to the prescribed formats and 
standards set in the accounting regulations 
issued by Bangladesh Bank after consultation 
with the professional accounting body of 
Bangladesh;

n) we have reviewed over 80% of the risk weighted 
assets of the Group and the Company during 
the course of our audit and we have spent over 
550 person hours for the audit of books and 
accounts of the Company; and

o) all other issues which are important for the 
stakeholders of the Company have been 
adequately disclosed in the audit report;
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Dhaka, signed-

02 March 2017 ACNABIN
  Chartered Accountants



82 Annual Report 2016
UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited

The UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited
Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2016

Notes
31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Taka Taka
PROPERTIES & ASSETS
Cash  3  48,528  100,331 
Cash in hand (including foreign currency)  20,878  69,061 
Balance with Bangladesh Bank  and its agents (including foreign currency)  27,650  31,270 

Balance with other banks and financial institutions 4  549,841,182  766,918,713 
In Bangladesh   549,841,182  766,918,713 
Outside Bangladesh  -    -   

Money at call and short notice - -

Investments  5  7,840,124  7,840,124 
Government securities  -    -   
Other investments  7,840,124  7,840,124 

Loans and advances  6  1,018,557,821  723,302,220 
Loans and advances  1,018,557,821  723,302,220 
Bills purchased and discounted  -    -   

Fixed assets including motor vehicles, office equipment  7  3,513,230  4,654,362 
Other assets  8  12,078,421  12,692,638 
Non-banking assets  -    -   
Total Assets  1,591,879,306  1,515,508,389 

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Liabilities  130,999,430  118,013,090 
Borrowing from other banks, Financial Institutions and agents  -    -   
Deposit and other accounts  -    -   
Other liabilities  9  130,999,430  1,397,495,300 

Capital/Shareholders’ equity  1,460,879,877  1,397,495,300 
Paid-up capital 10  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 
Statutory reserve  11  196,520,361  179,617,807 
Special reserve  12  93,490,366  76,587,812 
Investment equalization fund  13  -  -   
Tax reserve  14 -  -   
Retained earnings  15  170,869,150  141,289,681 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  1,591,879,306 1,515,508,389

The annexed notes form an integral part of the Balance Sheet.

 signed-
Dr. S. M. Akbar 

 Managing Director 

 signed-
          Md. Eunusur Rahman

  Deputy Chairman

 signed-
Faisal Al Suwaidi 

Chairman

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date.

Dhaka,
02 March 2017

signed-
   ACNABIN 

 Chartered Accountants 

ACNABIN
Chartered Accountants
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The UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited
 Profit and Loss Account

For the year ended 31 December 2016

The annexed notes form an integral part of the  Profit and Loss Account.

 signed-
Dr. S. M. Akbar 

 Managing Director 

 signed-
 Md. Eunusur Rahman

Deputy Chairman

 signed-
Faisal Al Suwaidi 

Chairman

This is the Profit and Loss Account referred to in our report of even date.

Dhaka,
02 March 2017

signed-
   ACNABIN 

 Chartered Accountants 

Notes
31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Taka Taka
Restated

Interest income  16  93,794,948  70,299,760 
Interest paid on deposits & borrowings  -  - 
Net interest income  93,794,948  70,299,760 
Investment income  17  1,458,168  2,273,168 
Commission, exchange and brokerage  -  - 
Other operating income  18  39,001,542  74,673,132 
Total operating income  134,254,658  147,246,060 

Salaries & allowances  12,455,912  14,351,617 
Rent, taxes, insurances, electricity, etc.  1,743,739  1,611,794 
Legal and professional fees  890,038  1,025,880 
Postage, stamp, telecommunication, etc.  547,799  926,527 
Director’s fee  184,000  120,000 
Stationery, printing, advertisement  783,775  875,275 
Managing director’s salary & benefits  10,322,875  9,640,000 
Auditor’s fee  115,000  115,000 
Charges on loan losses  -  - 
Depreciation and repairs of Company’s assets  3,133,824  2,949,310 
Other expenses  19  9,645,747  9,054,252 
Total operating expenses  39,822,710  40,669,654 
Profit before provision  94,431,948  106,576,406 
Provision for loans & investment
Specific provision  6,600,000  - 
General provision  2,299,388  2,594,970 
Provision for diminution in value of investment  1,019,791  (1,472,100)
Other provision  -  - 
Total provision  9,919,179  1,122,870 
Profit before taxes  84,512,769  105,453,536 
Provision for taxes
Current taxes  -  - 
Deferred taxes  -  - 

 -  - 
Profit/(loss) after taxes  84,512,769  105,453,536 

Appropriation to:

Statutory reserve  16,902,554  20,690,707 
Special reserve  16,902,554  20,690,707 
Dividend  21,128,192  20,690,707 

 54,933,300  62,072,121 
Retained surplus  29,579,469  43,381,415 

Earnings Per Share (EPS)  20  5,542  6,915 

ACNABIN
Chartered Accountants
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signed-
Dr. S. M. Akbar 

 Managing Director 

signed-
Md. Eunusur Rahman

Deputy Chairman

signed-
Faisal Al Suwaidi 

Chairman
This is the Cash Flows Statement referred to in our report of even date.

Dhaka,
02 March 2017

signed-
   ACNABIN 

 Chartered Accountants 

31.12.2016 31.12.2015
Taka Taka

 a. Cash flows from operating activities  
Interest received  133,297,528  140,424,020 
Interest paid  -    -   
Dividend received  263,168  263,168 
Interest received in sale of Equity Share
Recovery of loans previously written off  -    -   
Cash paid to employees  (21,515,894)  (20,450,154)
Cash paid to suppliers  (557,400)  (673,075)
Income taxes paid  -    -   
Received from other operating activities  1,195,000  934,392 
Payments for other operating activities  (14,131,765)  (17,806,091)
Cash generated from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities  98,550,636  102,692,261 

Decrease/(increase) in operating assets and liabilities  (295,255,601)  (180,340,948)
Loans, advances and leases to customers  -    -   
Investments  113,179  (130,174)
Other assets  179,659  3,812,074 
Other liabilities  (294,962,764)  (176,659,049)

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (196,232,469)  (73,966,788)

 b. Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash received from sales of securities  -    -   
Net cash paid for purchase of securities  -    -   
Net cash received from sales of fixed assets  -    18,200 
Net cash paid for purchase of fixed assets  (26,500)  (4,574,957)
Net cash used in financing activities  (26,500)  (4,556,757)

 c. Cash flows from financing activities
Cash received from loan and debt security  -    -   
Cash paid against loan and debt security  -    -   
Received against issuance of share  -    -   
Received against investment equalization fund  -    -   
Dividend paid  (20,690,707)  (20,958,336)
Net cash used in financing activities  (20,690,707)  (20,958,336)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (217,129,334)  (99,481,881)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  767,019,044  866,500,925 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year* 549,889,710  767,019,044 

*Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Cash in hand  20,878  69,061 
Balance with Bangladesh Bank  27,650  31,270 
Balance with other banks and financial institutions  549,841,182  766,918,713 

 549,889,710  767,019,044 

The UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited
Cash Flows Statement

For the year ended  31 December 2016

ACNABIN
Chartered Accountants
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The UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. The company and its activities

The UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited, a non-banking financial institution having its registered office at 
Dhaka, Bangladesh was incorporated on 11 June 1987 as a private limited company under the Companies Act 1913. 
The company obtained license from Bangladesh Bank under the Financial Institutions Act 1993 on 18 December 1995.

The principal objective of the company for which it was established is to make investments in the form of equity, term 
loan, lease finance, etc in financially viable projects in Bangladesh on commercial basis in all sectors of the economy.

2. Significant accounting policies 

2.1 Presentation of financial statements
The presentation of financial statements has been made as per the requirements of DFIM Circular No: 11, dated 
23 December 2009 issued by the department of Financial Institutions and Market of Bangladesh Bank. The 
activities and accounting heads mentioned in the prescribed form, which are not applicable for the financial 
institutions, have been excluded in the preparing the financial statements. 

2.2 Basis of preparation of financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with 
Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards, the Companies Act 1994, the Financial Institutions Act 1993, and 
other applicable rules and regulations. 

2.3 Accounting for term loan

This represents short-term and long-term finance made by the company. These term loans are recorded and 
reported based on the accrual basis of accounting. Outstanding loans, along with the accrued interest thereon, 
are accounted for as direct finance assets of the company. 

2.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized on accrual basis in accordance with Bangladesh Accounting Standard-18. 

2.5 Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged using straight-line method 
at the rates varying from 10% to 25% considering the estimated useful lives of the assets. Full year’s depreciation 
is charged on assets acquired within the first half of the year whereas half year’s depreciation is charged for those 
assets which are acquired in the second half of the year. Depreciation is charged on a proportionate time basis 
for the disposal of assets in the second half of the year. However, no depreciation is charged on assets disposed 
in the first half of the year. Maintenance and repairing costs are charged to revenue as and when incurred. 

2.6 Share capital 

Share capital of the company is stated in Bangladesh Taka in these accounts although this is denominated in US 
Dollars in the share scrip and share register and also stated in the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 
the company. The share money contribution in US Dollars has been translated into Bangladesh Taka at the rates 
ruling on the dates of receipt of such money.

2.7 Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Bangladesh Taka at the mid buying and selling rates prevailing 
on the dates of transactions. Assets and liabilities in foreign currency at 31 December 2016 were translated into 
Taka at the year end mid exchange rate. 

2.8 Provision for loans, leases and advances

Provision is made on loans, leases and advances in accordance with Bangladesh Bank’s FID Circular no. 8 dated 
03 August 2002 and DFIM Circular letter no. 03 dated 29 April 2013. 
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2.9 Statutory reserve
This has been created as a statutory requirement in compliance with clause 6 of the Financial Institutions 
Regulations 1994.

2.10 Post employment benefit
The company has recognized its gratuity obligation by creating a gratuity fund in order to comply with the 
requirements of International Accounting Standard-19 and Employees’ Service Rules.

2.11 Taxation
The company enjoyed tax exemption facility for a period of 10 years which expired in 2007. The company has also 
obtained further tax exemption facility for an unlimited period with effect from 01-07-2012 as per SRO No. 313-
AIN/2012 dated 11-09-2012. However, as per a bi-lateral agreement dated 08-06-1987 between the Governments 
of Bangladesh and UAE, the company has applied to concerned authorities for allowing tax exemption with 
retrospective effect from 01-01-2008.

 2.12 Earning per share

The company calculates Earning Per Share (EPS) in accordance with BAS-33: Earning Per Share, which has been 
shown at the bottom of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the computation of EPS is stated in note # 20.

 2.12 General

i. Figures have been rounded off to the nearest Taka.
ii. Previous year’s figures have been restated wherever considered necessary to conform to the current year’s 

presentation.

31.12.2016
 Taka 

31.12.2015 
Taka 

 3. Cash

Cash in hand  20,878  69,061 
Balance with Bangladesh Bank and its agent  27,650  31,270 

 48,528  100,331 
 4. Balance with other banks and financial institutions

Local currency (Note : 4.1)  546,585,672  763,693,847 

Foreign currency  3,255,511  3,224,866 

 549,841,182  766,918,713 
4.1 Local currency

Fixed deposit account  446,958,948  481,276,601 
Converted fixed deposit account  56,818,381  279,670,790 
Savings bank deposit account  41,889,268  940,098 
Short term deposit account  919,075  1,806,358 

 546,585,672  763,693,847 

 5. Investment

Government securities  -    -   
Other investment (Note : 5.1)  7,840,124  7,840,124 

 7,840,124  7,840,124 

5.1 Investment in listed shares
Opening balance (KPCL)  7,840,124  7,840,124 
Add: Impact of correction of error  -    - 
Restated opening balance  7,840,124  7,840,124 
Add: Investment during the year  -    -   

 7,840,124  7,840,124 

Investment in Shares have been previously shown in fair value erroneously since 2010. Now it has been corrected and shown in 
cost price as per FID Circular no. 8 dated 03rd August 2002.
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31.12.2016
 Taka 

31.12.2015
 Taka 

 6. Loans and advances
Loans  and advances (Note : 6.1)  1,003,320,123  704,136,982 

House Building Loan to Employee (Note : 6.2)  15,237,698  19,165,238 

 1,018,557,821  723,302,220 

6.1 Loans and advances

Term loan (Note : 6.1.1)  1,003,320,123  704,136,982 

6.1.1 Term loan
Opening balance  704,136,982  538,568,494 
Add: Disbursed during the year  760,000,000  430,000,000 

 1,464,136,982  968,568,494 
Less: Realized during the year  460,816,859  264,431,512 

 1,003,320,123  704,136,982 
6.1.1.1 Term loan - current portion

Opening balance  281,654,841  209,367,291 
Add: Addition during the year  600,447,124  274,454,841 

 882,101,965  483,822,132 
Less : Realized during the year  373,109,401  202,167,291 
Less : Adjusted during the year  -    -   

 508,992,564  281,654,841 

6.2 House Building Loan to Employee
Opening balance  19,165,238  4,392,778 
Add: Disbursed during the year  -    16,500,000 

 19,165,238  20,892,778 
Less: Realized during the year  3,927,540  1,727,540 

 15,237,698  19,165,238 

7. Fixed assets 

A.    Cost
Opening balance 11,939,676  7,431,210 
Add: Addition during the year 26,500  4,574,957 

11,966,176  12,006,166 
Less: Disposal during the year -  66,490 

11,966,176  11,939,676 
B.    Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance 7,285,314  6,555,238 
Add: Charged during the year 1,167,632  793,842 

8,452,947  7,349,079 
Less: Adjustment for disposal during the year -  63,765 

8,452,947  7,285,314 
C.    Written down value (A-B) 3,513,230  4,654,362 

8. Other assets
Advance, deposits and prepayments (Note : 8.1)  1,290,744  1,403,923 
Income receivables (Note : 8.2)  10,787,677  11,288,715 

 12,078,421  12,692,638 
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31.12.2016 
Taka 

31.12.2015 
Taka 

8.1 Advance, deposits and prepayments (Note : 8.1.1)
Opening balance  1,403,923  1,273,748 
Add: Addition during the year  2,736,675  6,157,189 

 4,140,598  7,430,937 
Less: Adjusted during the year  2,849,854  6,027,014 

 1,290,744  1,403,923 

8.1.1 Advance, deposits and prepayments
Advance rent  34,775  30,250 
Loan to staff  -    9,183 
Advance against salary  652,554  1,019,294 
Prepaid Insurance  258,204  -   
Advance Tax  186,767  186,767 
Other receivable and advance  60,000  59,985 
BO Account  444  444 
Security deposits:
      ISD telephones (3 nos.)  42,000  42,000 
      Fax  10,000  10,000 
      Mobile for officers (3 nos.)  30,000  30,000 
      Gulshan Service Station   10,000  10,000 
      Mobile (5 nos.)  6,000  6,000 

 1,290,744  1,403,923 

8.2 Income receivables (Note : 8.2.1)
Opening balance  11,288,715  7,679,711 
Add: Addition during the year  35,692,384  34,838,482 

 46,981,099  42,518,192 
Less: Realized during the year  36,193,422  31,229,477 

 10,787,677  11,288,715 

8.2.1 Income receivables
FDR  1,552,360  3,831,089 
Converted FDR  66,288  1,334,516 
Term loan  9,169,029  6,123,110 

 10,787,677  11,288,715 
9. Other liabilities

Liabilities for expenses (Note : 9.1) 2,526,846  3,671,530 
Provision for loans and investments (Note : 9.2) 19,419,702  9,500,523 
Gratuity fund (Note : 9.3) 19,499,892  15,813,492 
Provision for income tax  68,281,831    68,281,831 
Privileged Creditors 142,968 55,007
Proposed Dividend 21,128,192  20,690,707 

130,999,430 118,013,090

UBICO is pursuing to get the tax waiver for the time duration gap from 2008 to June 2012. The decision from High court is still 
pending on the issue therefore it is as per BAS 37 Provision, Contingencies and Liabilities the Tax amount is being tranferred from 
Tax Reserve to Other Liabilities as Provision for Income Tax.
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31.12.2016 
Taka 

31.12.2015
 Taka 

9.1 Liabilities for expenses 

Telephone bill 5,203  15,067 

Audit fees 115,000  115,000 

Others 2,406,643  3,541,463 

2,526,846  3,671,530 

9.2 Provision for loans and investments

Term loan (Note : 9.2.1) 16,719,578  7,820,190 

Investment (Note : 9.2.2) 2,700,124  1,680,333 

19,419,702  9,500,523 

9.2.1 Provision for term loans

Opening balance 7,820,190  5,225,220 
Add: Provision made during the year 9,695,864  3,288,248 

17,516,054  8,513,468 
Less: Written back during the year 796,476  693,278 

16,719,578  7,820,190 

Provisions for loans and investments have been made as per FID circular no. 08 dated 03/08/2002 and DFIM circular letter no. 03 
dated 29/04/2013 issued by the Financial Institutions Department of Bangladesh Bank.

9.2.2 Provision for Investment
Opening balance 1,680,333  3,152,433 
Add: Impact of correction of error -  -   
Restated opening balance 1,680,393  3,152,433 
Add: Provision made during the year 1,019,791  (1,472,100)

2,700,124  1,680,333 

Investment in Shares of KPCL have been erroneously recorded in fair value. Now on 01.01.15 this error has been rectified by 
adjusting the total loss/gain amount with Investment income was Tk. 3,152,433 which have been corrected. During the year 2015, 
the market price have increased therefore the provision during the year have been reduced by Tk. 1,472,100. In the year 2016, the 
share price has reduced which resulted in the provision amounting to Tk. 1,019,791. 

9.3 Gratuity fund
Opening balance 15,813,492  14,667,166 
Add: Provision made during the year 3,686,400  1,146,326 

19,499,892  15,813,492 
Less: Settlement made during the year -  -   

19,499,892  15,813,492 

As required by the Employees’ Service Rules of the company, employees are entitled to get gratuity at specified rates 
as stated therein. Accordingly, the Board of Directors has decided and approved to create a gratuity fund in its 29th 
meeting held on 11th October 2009 in order to comply with the said requirement as well as with the requirements of 
International Accounting Standard- 19. 
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The amount of authorized capital in US Dollars has been translated into Bangladesh Taka.

Issued, subscribed and paid-up

15,250 ordinary shares of US$ 1,000 each fully paid.

The contributions by the sponsors towards share capital was as below:

Name of shareholders % of 
holding

Number of 
shares

Amount in 
US$

FEX 
Rate

Amount in  equivalent Taka

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

A. Initial Contribution:

Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADF) 60%  3,000  3,000,000  32.27  96,810,000  96,810,000 

Government of Bangladesh (GOB) 40%  2,000  2,000,000  30.50  61,000,000  61,000,000 

100%  5,000  5,000,000  157,810,000 157,810,000 

B. Bonus share issued:

Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADF) 60%  2,400  2,400,000  84.66  203,190,000 203,190,000 

Government of Bangladesh (GOB) 40%  1,600  1,600,000  86.88  139,000,000 139,000,000 

100%  4,000  4,000,000  342,190,000 342,190,000 

C. New ordinary share issued:

Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADF) 60%  3,750  3,750,000  80.00  300,000,000 300,000,000 

Government of Bangladesh (GOB) 40%  2,500  2,500,000  80.00  200,000,000 200,000,000 

100%  6,250  6,250,000  500,000,000 500,000,000 

D. Total Paid-up Capital (A+B+C):

Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADF) 60%  9,150  9,150,000  600,000,000 600,000,000 

Government of Bangladesh (GOB) 40%  6,100  6,100,000  400,000,000 400,000,000 

100%  15,250  15,250,000  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 

The amount of paid-up capital in US Dollars has been translated into Bangladesh Taka at different rates 
at respective prevailing dates.

10. Share capital

Authorized

15,250 ordinary shares of US$ 1,000 each.

Name of shareholders % of 
holding

Number of 
shares Amount in   US$

Amount in  equivalent Taka

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADF) 60%  9,150  9,150,000  600,000,000  600,000,000 

Government of Bangladesh (GOB) 40%  6,100  6,100,000  400,000,000  400,000,000 

100%  15,250  15,250,000  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 

ACNABIN
Chartered Accountants



92 Annual Report 2016
UAE-Bangladesh Investment Company Limited

31.12.2016 
Taka 

31.12.2015 
Taka 

11 Statutory reserve
Opening balance  179,617,807 158,927,100
Add: Transfer during the year  16,902,554 20,690,707

 196,520,361 179,617,807

This is created by transfer of post-tax profit in terms of clause 6 of the Financial Institution Regulation 1994.

12 Special reserve
Opening balance  76,587,812  55,897,105 
Add: Transfer during the year  16,902,554  20,690,707 

 93,490,366  76,587,812 

This represents 20% of paid up capital of the company which was created from post tax profit as per requirement of 
clause 71 of Articles of  Association of the company.

13 Investment equalization fund
Opening balance  -    2,000,000 
Less: Amount adjusted during the year  -   

 -    2,000,000 
Less: Impact of correction of error  -    2,000,000 

 -    -   

The compensation amount of Tk. 2,000,000 from Zed and Zed Ltd. have already been realized. Therefore the amount has 
been transferred to Other Investment Income.

14 Tax reserve
Opening balance, as previously reported  -    68,281,831 
Add: Addition during the year  -    -   

 -    68,281,831 
Less: Impact of Correction of error  -    68,281,831 

 -    -   

As per bilateral agreement between UAE and Bangladesh Governments, our company was exempted from tax for 10 
(ten) years of making profit which was upto 2007. Afterwards, the company further obtained tax exemption from 1 July 
2012 as per article 24 of Double Taxation Avoidance Agreement between UAE and Bangladesh Governments. We are 
strongly pursuing for getting tax waiver for gap period of 4½ years. As per the accounting standards Provision need 
to be maintained for future liability, so the tax reserve as made earlier have been corrected and transferred to Other 
Liabilities.

15 Retained earnings 
Opening balance  141,289,681  97,908,266 
Less: Impact of correction of error  -    -   

 141,289,681  97,908,266 
Add: Impact of correction of error  -    -   
Restated opening balance  141,289,681  97,908,266 
Add: Unappropriated profit for the year transferred from profit & loss account  84,512,769  105,453,536 

 225,802,450  203,361,802 
Less: Amount transfer to statutory reserve  16,902,554  20,690,707 
          Amount transfer to Special reserve  16,902,554  20,690,707 
          Amount transfer to proposed dividend  21,128,192  20,690,707 

 54,933,300  62,072,121 
 170,869,150  141,289,681 

As per FID Circular no. 8 dated 03 August 2002, Investment in Shares need to be shown in cost price and provision needs 
to be maintained for fluctuation of the market price. Investment in shares have been erroneously recorded at fair value 
and the loss/gain have been adjusted in other investment income. Therefore the value of the shares are corrected in 
note 5.1 by adjusting the shortfall amount Tk. 3,152,433 and the retained earnings are being corrected by the same 
amount to comply with the said circular. The compensation amount of Zed and Zed Ltd. has been realized so it has been 
adjusted with retained earnings.
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31.12.2016 
Taka 

31.12.2015 
Taka 

16. Interest income
Term loan  93,794,948  70,299,760 
Lease and other advances  -    -   

 93,794,948  70,299,760 

17. Investment income

Investment in capital market:
Profit on Investment in shares  -    1,472,100 
Dividend on investment in shares of Khulna Power Co. Ltd.  263,168  263,168 
Other Investment Income  -    10,000 
Documentation charges  1,195,000  -   

 1,458,168  1,745,268 
Add: Impact of correction of error  -    2,000,000 

 1,458,168  3,745,268 
Less: Impact of correction of error  -    1,472,100 

 1,458,168  2,273,168 

UBICO erroneously calculated investment in share in fair market value. During the year 2015, market value of KPCL has 
increased by Tk.1,472,100 and erroneously it is calculated as investment income. Now we have rectified it by reducing 
Tk. 1,472,100  from investment income.   

18. Other operating income
Interest on deposit with banks   (Note : 18.1) 38,970,397  75,468,533 
Profit/(loss) on sale of fixed assets  -    15,475 
Gain/(Loss) on exchange rate fluctuation 31,144  (810,876)

38,970,397  74,673,132 

18.1 Interest on deposit with banks
Fixed deposit 24,207,987  41,862,174 
Converted fixed deposit 13,225,046  32,048,531 
Foreign currency deposit -  341,699 
Short term deposit account  225,633  85,267 
Savings account 1,311,731  1,130,861 

38,970,397  75,468,533 

19 Other expenses
Bank charges 40,200  68,501 
Business development expenditure 838,579  946,512 
Hajj Pilgrim Expense 1,166,000  -   
Entertainment- office 348,903  376,681 
Entertainment- business 140,217  123,119 
Hotel expenses 290,190  615,183 
Local conveyance 154,405  177,900 
Motor vehicles - POL 1,003,320  985,361 
Motor vehicles - other expenses 81,630  74,280 
Office supplies 25,948  31,213 
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31.12.2016
 Taka

31.12.2015
 Taka

Subscription - newspaper & periodicals 51,140  44,094 
Traveling - foreign 2,940,578  4,372,337 
Traveling - inland 8,840  33,400 
Training - officer & staff 142,540  126,500 
Uniform 39,750  32,290 
VAT & duty 424,100  401,000 
Wages to casual workers 120,000  71,000 
Miscellaneous expenses 135,668  321,881 
CSR Expenses 1,693,740  253,000 

9,645,747  9,054,252 

20 Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Net profit after tax  84,512,769  105,453,536 

Weighted Average Number of ordinary shares outstanding  15,250  15,250 

Earning Per Share (EPS)  5,542  6,915 

21 Others

21.1 Board meeting and Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ fee is paid to a Director of the company as attendance fee for attending a meeting of the Board of Directors 
as per Bangladesh Bank Guideline. No other remuneration was made to the Directors for attending board meetings or 
otherwise during the year 2016. Nothing is due from any Director of the Company as on the date of closing the accounts. 
During the year under audit four Board of Directors’ meetings were held.

 signed-
Dr. S. M. Akbar 

 Managing Director 

 signed-
   Md. Eunusur Rahman

  Deputy Chairman

 signed-
Faisal Al Suwaidi 

Chairman

Dhaka,
02 March 2017

signed-
   ACNABIN 

 Chartered Accountants 
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Section - H

AT A GLANCE
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